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COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Introduction. This writ of error stems from lengthy environmental enforcement efforts
by the defendant in error Commissioner of Environmental Protection ("Commissioner”)
against Joseph J. Farricielli for serious and persistent violations at an unpermitted landfill
located along State Street in Hamden and North Haven known as “the Tire Pond.” In
September 2001, the Commissioner and co-plaintiff Town of Hamden (*Hamden”) obtained
a judgment (“the 2001 Judgrhent”) against Mr. Farricielli and his companies ordering them,
among other things, to hire a consultant to close the Tire Pond and to pay $3.74 miilion in
civil penaities. Rocque v. Farricielfi, 2001 Conn. Super. LEXIS 2761 (No. HHD CV 99-
0591020 S, Hartford Judicial District, Sept. 21, 2001) (Modern App. A31 — A70). This Court
affirmed the 2001 Judgment in 2004. Rocque v. Farricielli, 269 Conn. 187 (2004). When
Mr. Farricielli avoided paying the civil penalties by hiding behind his wife's company, the
Commissioner and Hamden brought suit in September 2005 against State Five Industrial
Park, Inc. (“State Five”) and Jean L. Farricielli, Mr, Farricielli's wife, seeking to hold them
liable on the 2001 Judgment on theories of corporate veil piercing. In January 2009, the
Commissioner and Hamden obtained a judgment against State Five and Mrs. Farricielli,
holding them liable on the 2001 Judgment. McCarthy v. State Five indus. Park, Inc., 2009
Conn. Super. LEXIS 195 (No. HHD CV 05-4015888 S, Hartford Judicial District, Jan. 5,
2009) (Comm’r App. A11 —~A85)."

This latest proceeding involves a tenant of State Five and the Farricié]lis, plaintiff in

error Modern Materials Corp. (“Modern Materials”), which is occupying the southern part of

' The defendants’ appeal of the Sfate Five case is currently pending before this Court, S.C.
18543, but has not yet been scheduled for oral argument.




the Tire Pond under a license and lease given by Mr. Farricielli and State Five in June
2003. Modern Materials is blocking the Commissioner’s closure of the Tire Pond, in spite
of a 2004 court order prohibiting persons with notice of the 2001 Judgmeht and the 2004
order from interfering with the Commissioner's closure of the Tire Pohd.

2001 Judament and Lease to Modern Materials. In its March 10, 2010

Memorandum of Decision (“M.0.D."), the trial court madé the following unchallenged
findings. The Tire Pond, also known as “Parcel B," is an unclosed solid waste disposal
area located in North Haven and Hamden, bordered by the Quinnipiac River along the east.
See Map 1074A, Comm’r Exh. H (Comm’r App. at 1}. The Commissioner's original
enforcement action against Mr. Farricielli in 1999 (“underlying enforcement action”) also
concerned Parcel A, which also has an unclosed landfill on it. The northern part of Parcel
B is in North Haven, and the southern part of it is in Hamden. /d. Parcel A is completely in
- Hamden. /d. Between Parcels B and A lies'Parcel C, which is also completely in Hamden.
Id. Parcel C is owned by State Five. Until January 27, 2003, State Five was known as
“Look Investment Agency,. Inc.” (“Look Investment”). M.O.D. at 1-2 (Modern App. at A85 —
ABB). Prior to February 2000, when Mr. Farricielli transferred a 6.8 acre strip along the
southern part of the Tire Pond from the southern part of Parcel B to the northern part of
Pafcei C, see infra, at 4,_the Tire Pond was entirely on Parcel B. Since February 2000, the
'f'ire Pond is on both Parcel B and the northern part of Parcel C. M.0.D. at 9 (Modern App.
at A93); Map 1074A (Comm’r App. at 1).

The underlyiné enforcement action is based on a February 25, 1998 Consent Order
(“1998 Consent Order”) issued by the Commissioner to Mr. Farricielli and three of the

defendants (“the respondents”). The 1998 Consent Order directed the respondents to,




among other things, close the Tire Pond. The Commissioner issued the 1998 Consent
Order pursuant to her authority under Conn. Gen. Stat. § 22a-6 (general authority), §§ 22a-
208 and 22a-225 (governing solid waste), and §§ 22a-424, 22a-430, 22a432, and 22a-433
{governing water pollution). As required by statute, see Conn. Gen. Stat. § 22a-225(e)?
and § 22a-434%, the Commissioner filed the 1998 Consent Order on the tand records of the
Town of Hamden on March 6, 1998. M.O.D. at 2 (Modern App. at A86).

When Mr. Farricielli and the other respondents to the 1998 Consent Order violated it,
the Commissioner comfnenced the underlying enforcement action in August 1999 to obtain
a judgment ordering the defendants to comply with the 1998 Consent Order. The
Commissioner moved to add Look Investment, the owner of Parcel C, as a defendant to the
case to insure that any injunctive relief requiring access to Parcels B and A be effective.
Mr. Farricielli and the other defendants to the enforcement action opposed the motion to

add Look Investment. On December 20, 1999, the motion to add Look Investment was

2 Conn. Gen. Stat. § 22a-225(e) reads, “When the commissioner issues an order pursuant
to this chapter, he shall cause a certified copy or notice thereof to be filed on the land
records in the town wherein the land is located, and such certified copy or notice shall
constitute a notice to the owner's heirs, successors and assigns. When the order has been
fully complied with or revoked, the commissioner shall issue a certificate showing such
compliance or revocation, which certificate the commissioner shall cause to be recorded on
the land records in the town wherein the order was previously recorded.”

3 Conn. Gen. Stat. § 22a-434 reads, “When the commissioner issues a final order to any
person to correct potential sources of pollution or to abate pollution, he shall cause a
certified copy thereof to be filed on the land records in the town wherein the iand is located,
and such order shall constitute notice to the owner’s heirs, successors and assigns. When
the order has been fully complied with, the commission shall issue a certificate showing
such compliance, which certificate the commissioner shall cause to be recorded on the land
records in the town wherein the order was previously recorded. A certified copy of the
certificate shall be sent to the owner of the land at his last-known post-office address.” In
1998, the statute read the same, except “a final order” in the first sentence read “an order.”

3




denied Eased on assurances from the defendants that access would be allowed. M.O.D. at
2-3 (Modern App. at A86 — A87).

On February 1, 2000, six weeks after the motion to add Look Investment to the
underlying enforcement action was denied, Mr. Farricielli conveyed a 6.8 acre strip of the
Tire Pond along the southern portion of Parcel B to Look Investment. Mr. Farricielli was the
president of Look Investment at the time. M.O.D. at 3 (Modern App. at A87). This transfer
caused the 6.8 acre strip — the southern portion of the Tire Pond — to become part of Parcel
C. See Map 1074A (Comm’r App. at 1); M.O.D. at 9 (Modern App. at A93}.

The underlying enforcement action went to judgment on September 21, 2001. The
2001 Judgment required Mr. Farricielli and the other defendants to retain a consultant fo
close the Tire Pond under the direction of the Commissioner. The 2001 Judgment placed
the closure of the Tire Pond under the supervision of the Commissioner because of “the
defendants’ proven inability to comply with the provisions of the Consent Order. . . . 2001
Judgment at §| 2, p. 31 (Modern App. at 61). The 2001 Judgment enjoined the defendants
from interfering with the closure. If the defendants failed to retain a consultant within sixty
(60) days, the 2001 Judgment authorized the Commissioner to retain one, and directed the
defendants to reimburse the Commissioner for all her costs in closing the Tire Pond.
M.0.D. at 2 (Modern App. at A86); 2001 Judgment at {[{f 2, 3, & 6, pp. 31-33 (Modern App.
at A61 — A63). Mr. Farricielli appealed and this Court affirmed the 2001 Judgment on June
1, 2004. Rocque v. Farricielli, 269 Conn. 187 (2004). |

On June 11, 2003, while the appeal of the 2001 Judgment was pehding, Mr.
Farricielli licensed a three-acre portion of the Tire Pond in its southeast corner to Look

Investment, now known as State Five, for one dollar. State Five immediately assigned this




license to Modern Materials. At the same time, State Five leased to Modern Materials the
6.8 acre strip running along the southern portion of the Tire Pond that Mr. Farricielli had

transferred to State Five on February 1, 2000. Under the lease the licensed area and the

leased area are called “the Leased Premises.” The initial term of the lease was for five
years and seven months, with an ending date of February 28, 2008. The lease gave
Modern Materials one option to renew the lease for an additional five years. M.O.D. at 3, 9

(Modern App. at A87, A93).*

Commissioner’s Effortg to Close the Tire Pond. The trial court found that the
Commissioner is closing the Tire Pond in two phases; the first phase is to cover the tires,
and the second phase is to create a stable land form. The first phase was accomplished
using Gateway Terminal (“Gateway”) as the entity bringing material to the Tire Pond to fill it
and cover the tires. M.O.D. at 4 (Modern App. at A88).

Initially, starting in April 2002, Gateway was party to a memorandum of
understanding with the Commissioner, Mr. Farricielli, and Northridge Enterprises, under
which Gateway obtained material from the “Big Dig” in Boston and delivered it to the Tire
Pond for placement by Northridge Enterprises. M.O.D. at 4 (Modern App. at A88). In
March of 2003, Gateway's trucks were turned away, the first memorandum of
understanding ended, and Gateway took over the delivery and placemen't of material.
Gateway entered a new memorandum of understanding with the Commissioner and started

-to bring in material in May 2003 to continue with the closure of the Tire Pond. Gateway

!
1

*Inits brief, Modern Materials maintains, without any citation to the record, that the Tire
Pond does not include the Leased Premises. See Brief of the Plaintiff in Error at 5. The
trial court, however, found that Modern Materials is occupying the southern part of the Tire
Pond, because the strip was part of the Tire Pond before Mr. Farricielli transferred it to
Look Investment in 2000, and it remains part of the Tire Pond still. M.O.D. at 9 (Modern

App. at 93), :




" retained Fuss & O'Neill to provide environmental consulting services for the closure of the

“Tire Pond. M.0.D. at 4 (Modern App. at A88).

In July 2004, the Commissioner moved to hold Mr. Farricielli in contempt of the 2001

B .Judgment, alleging that he had failed to do what the 2001 Judgment’s injunction required

| him to do and had done what the injﬁnction prohibited him from doing. Although the court
denied the motion, the court concluded that Mr. Farricielii had “engaged in serious
harassment” of the Commissioner and Gateway. M.O.D. at 4-5 (Modern App. at A88 —
A89); October 7, 2004 Memorandum of Decision at 4 (Comm’r App. at AB).

The court then entered a series of orders designed to strengthen the 2001
Judgment. The court “enjoin[ed] all persons whd are given notice thereof, from preventing
the Commissioner, his agents, employees and contractors from having full and complete
access to the Tire Pond and/or Parcel A, and from interfering with actions taken by the
Commissioner pursuant to paragraph 3 of the September 21, 2001 judgment.” October 7,
2004 Memorandum of Decision at 6 {Comm’r App. at A7). On October 28, 2004, the
Commissioner served both the 2001 Judgment and the October 7, 2004 Memorandum of
Decision on Modern Materials. M.O.D. at 4-5 (Modern App. at A88 — A89).

Sometime prior to October 2007, the Big Dig material dried up. In order to get the
tires covered, the Commissioner agreed to the entry of an October 3, 2007 First
Supplementary Post-Judgment Order on Consent (“First Post-Judgment Order”). M.O.D. at
5 (Modern App. at A89) Under the First Post-dJudgment Order, Mr. Farriciell entered into a
contract with Gatew"ray.! First Post-Judgment Order at | 1(a) (Modern App. at A76). The
“Gateway Agreement” provided that Gateway would continue to close the Tire Pond with

400,000 cubic yards of material in accordance with a 2007 Closure Plan prepared by Fuss




o N & O'Neill. M.0.D. at 5 (Modern App. at A89). The June 2007 Closure Plan is the only
i .s-approved Closure Plan for the Tire Pond. M.O.D. at 5 (Modern App. at A89). John A.

: ‘A.campora, Esq., of Cohen & Acampora, Gateway’s attorney of over twenty years,

;
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1_.r'epresented Gateway in the negotiation of the Gateway Agreement. Mr. Acampora was

also Modern Materials’ attorney for the June 2003 license and lease. M.O.D. at 5 (Modern

App. at A89).

As of September 2009, Gateway had finished placing the 400,000 cubic yards it was

‘entitled to place under the GateWay Agreement. The trial court found that Gateway had

‘successfully covered the tires, and the first phase of the closure had been completed.

M.O.D. at 5 (Modern App. at A89).

Once Gateway had covered the tires, the Commissioner proceeded to the second
phase of the Tire Pond closure by issuing, on June 18, 2009, an invitation to bid to the
contractors on the State’s remediation contractor list. The invitation to bid was for the
closing and capping of the Tire Pond in accordance with the June 2007 Closure Plan.
M.O.D. at 5-6 (Modern App. at A89 — AQO).

Modern Materials’ Knowing Interference with Closure. The trial court found that the

presence of Modern Materials on the southern portion of the Tire Pond is preventing the
Tire Pond from being closed in accordance with the June 2007 Closure Plan. M.O.D. at 6
(Modern App. at A90). Modern Materials’ presence on the southern part of the Tire Pond is
prevénting the Tire Pond from being combletely closed in accordance with the
Commissioner's sélidf waste regulations. These regulations require closure of the entire
footprint of the disposal area, which inciudes the 6.8 acre strip Modern Materials is

occupying. M.O.D. at 6 (Modern App. at A90).




. -“The trial court further found that Modern Materials has known since its incorporation

in 2603 that the part of the Tire Pond it occupies must be closed, and that the June 2007

.5? Closure Plan requires the area Modern Materials is occupying to be closed. M.O.D. at 3, 8-
g (Mo&ern App. at A87, A92 — A93). However, instead of vacating its part of the Tire Pond,

on'February 28, 2009, Modern Materials extended its lease for an additional five-year
péfioq_. Starting in the spring of 2008 — at about the same time as Modern Materials

| . ré;_cei__\(ed a letter from Commissioner’s counsel reviewing the need for Modern Materials to

move — Modern Materials began to bring onto the Leased Premises more material than it

; had previously stored there. The trial court found that “the clear inference here is that

. instead of cooperating with the closure of the Tire Pond, Modern Materials is intentionally

_'___'bgs._itiqning itself to make the argument, which it has now done, that it would be a hardship
"_ff-;-fqr'_it‘to move.” M.O.D. at 9 (Modern App. at A93).

g : ~ The Commissioner commenced the praceeding that is the subject of this writ of error

through service on Modern Materials of a June 24, 2009 order to show cause. M.0.D. at
1:;5_ _(I\_/_I_ﬁ_)dern App. at A89). The Commissioner sought an order from the trial court directing

: I\_g‘qd_e:rn Materials to vacate those portions of the Tire Pond it was occupying. M.O.D. at 1
(Mo_dern App. at A85). Modern Materials appeared through counsel, and the trial court

._ :.cgncjucted a hearing on the matter on September 17 and 29, 2009, giving Modern Materials
_:. an opportunity to show why such an order should not enter againstit. M.O.D. at 15-16

: (Modern App. at A99 — A100). After considering all the evidence, the written submissions,

" and the arguments 6f the parties, and after reviewing the 2001 Judgment, the October 7,

| 2004 Memorandum_ of Decision, and the October 3, 2007 First Post-Judgment Order, the




: atfial court granted the Commissioner’s motion. M.O.D. at 16-17 (Modern App. at A100 -

) .:.'JA'101). Modern Materials thereupon filed this Writ of Eror.®

ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly cqncluded that Modern Materials is bound by the court’s

, 2001 'J.udgment and 2004 order prohibiting interference with the Commissioner's closure of
tr;é Tlre Pond. The trial court properly entered an order requiring Modern Materials to
r'hdvé so that the Commissioner may finish closing the Tire Pond in accordance with the
Juﬁé 2007 Closure Plan. 1t is well settled that even a non-party is bound by an injunction if
it had notice of the injunction and is within the class of persons entitled to be restrained by
the injunction. Modern Materials satisfies both these requirements because its 2003 lease
.was always subject to the recorded 1998 Consent Order and the 2001 Judgment requiring
compliance with that order. Modern Materials has, ever since it entered its lease, known
that the area it is occupying is part of the TiFe Pond and must be closed. The trial court,
_ .having authorized the Commissioner in the 2001 Judgment and 2004 Memorandum of
Decision to close the Tire Pond without interference, and having found that Modern
Materials is obstructing closure, has inherent authority to protect and vindicate its prior
judgment and order in this case. Modern Materials has not been deprived of any property
interest without due process because Modern Materials’ 2003 lease was at all times subject
to the recorded 1998 Consent Order directing closure of the Tire Pond, and, in the
proceedings below, Modern Materials was given the opportunity to show why the previous

orders of the trial c'ourt should not apply to it.

® Modern Materials simultaneously filed an appeal, A.C. 32131, which was dismissed on
October 20, 2010.




The Trial Court Properly Concluded that the Previous Orders of the Court
‘Prohibiting Interference with the Commissioner’s Closure of the Tire Pond Are

. Binding on Modern Materials, A Non-Party.

AL Standard of Review.

| “The question of whether the trial court correctly concluded that Modern Materials, a
:..non-party, is bound by previous orders of the trial court enjoining interference with the
| closure of the Tire Pond, is a question of law for this Court. AvalonBay Communities, Inc.
| v Plan & Zoning Comm’n, 260 Conn. 232, 239-40 (2002). Accordingly, this Court’s review

.'.is plenary. /d.

B. Modern Materials’ Lease Is Subject to the 1998 Consent Order and the
2001 Judgment.

Modern Materials’ rights in this matter derive from its lease and license of the

~ Leased Premises from Mr. Farricielli and Look Investment (now State Five) in June 2003.

| .When Modern Materials entered into. the Junf 11, 2003 lease for the southern portion of
t.helTire Pond, its rights in that lease were subject to the 1998 Consent Order, which had

3 already been recorded on the Hamden land records. [t is “the long-established law of this

~State . . . that every person who takes a conveyance of an interest in real estate is
conclusively presumed to know those facts which are apparent upon the land records
éoncerning the chain of title of the property described in the conveyance . . . ." Beach v.
Osbome, 74 Conn. 405, 412 (1902) (purchaser put improvements on the land in face of

prior-recorded mortgage). Persons who acquire an interest in land subsequent to a prior-

recorded interest, take subject to that interest. The American Brass Co. v. Serra, 104
Conn. 139, 143 (1926) (owners of servient tract who purchased after creation of a recorded

easement, took title subject to the easement); see Hawley v. McCabe, 117 Conn. 568, 562~

10




64. (1933) (where right of way did not appear in the chain of title, the purchaser is not

bo'und)
B " The 1998 Consent Order requiring closure of the Tire Pond was recorded on the

. gand records on March 6, 1988. The trial court found that the 1998 Consent Order clearly
def ned Parcel B and included the 6.8 acre strip now occupied by Modern Materials.
| M.O.D. at 10 (Modern App. at A94). The trial court found that this area is the same
R pr‘oper‘fy that Mr. Farricielli transferred to Look Investment on February 1, 2000 and that
| Modern'MateriaIs leased from Look Investment, now known as State Five. M.O.D. at 10
” (Modern App. at A%4).
Moreover, the trial court found that the lease and license from Mr. Farricielli through
'.: ‘Look Investment to Modern Materials took place while the 1998 Consent Order was in
| litigation and the 2001 Judgment enforcing it was on appeal to this Court. M.O.D. at 11
(Modern App. at A95). “[A] person who deals with property while it is in litigation does so at
~ his peril . . . . If the power of the courts to determine the rights of the parties to real property
- could be defeated by its transfer, [during the pendency of litigation], to a purchaser without
notice, additional litigation would be spawned and the public’s confidence ‘in the judicial
process could be undermined.” Williams v. Bartleft, 189 Conn. 471, 480 (1983)(internal
quotation marks and citations omitted).

The correctness of the trial court’s conclusion that Modern Materials’ lease is subject
to the 1998 Consent Order is eloquentfy captured in this Court’'s 1902 Beach decision:

Itis the policif o% our law to make every man's land title as far as

practicable appear of record. The purpose of this policy is to furnish to

all full and complete information for their guidance and protection. The

place is appointed, the means provided, and the duty prescribed.

Inquiry at the appointed sources of information becomes inevitably a
part of the rule of duty of every ordinarily prudent person who intends

11




" 1o deal in realty. Grantees of realty, like persons in all other situations
“'in life, are bound to exercise reasonable diligence; and that involves, if
-+ our registry system is to have any vital efficacy, going to the land
_records to ascertain what is there published to the world concerning
. that which they are proposing to purchase. They may not shut their
-~ gyes to information which is blazoned for their instruction, and plead
. innocence if they suffer for their ignorance. Due and reasonable care
in a grantee involves something more than passivity and a sublime
éonfidence in all things human. Such an one who fails to examine
to see what the records disclose concerning the title to the land he
proposes to take, is, in the eye of the law, negligent; and equity does
not as a general rule relieve from the consequences of one's own

. negligence.

_i:.:‘éeach, 74 Conn. at 415.

B Modern Materials, a commercial venture, took an interest in land in June 2003 that
:i'_:Was subject to the requirements of a recorded 1998 Consent Order. Modern Materials was
_bound to exercise reasonable diligence. If it failed to do so, it may-not now be relieved from
j__ .'the consequences of its own negligence. In sum, it is clear that when Modern Materials
..éntered into its license and lease for the Leased Premises, it did so subject to the
.r.equirement, embodied in the 1998 Consent Order and the 2001 Judgment, that the Tire

. Pond be closed.

C. Modern Materials Had Actual Notice That the Area It Leased Is Part of
the Tire Pond and Must Be Closed.®

The trial court found that when Modern Materials decided to enter the June 11, 2003
I_ease, Modern Materials knew that the Commissioner was requiring the Leased Premises

~ to be closed as a solid waste disposal area. M.O.D. at 8 (Modern App. at A92). This fact

® Issue No. 2 in Modern Materials’ Statement of Issues is the question of whether the trial
court erred in finding Modern Materials had notice of the trial court’s previous orders.
Modern Materials, however, has failed to brief this issue. Having failed to brief the notice
Issue, Modern Materials has abandoned it. Sequenzia v. Guerrieri Masonry, Inc., 298
Conn. 816, 824 (2010). The Commissioner sets forth the unchallenged facts of Modern
Materials’ notice and knowledge because they relate to the legal arguments in Sections |
and 11l of this brief.
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\';,-a:'.'ﬁ'é_\'fideht because the 1998 Consent Order was recorded on the Hamden land records

- on March 6, 1998. The trial court found that anyone searching State Five's chain of title —

__rgS_Modern_Materiais should have done before it entered the lease — would have discovered
thé'.Februéry 1, 2000 conveyance of part of the Tire Pond and the 1998 Consent Order
rqujring closure of the Tire Pond. M.O.D. at 11 (Modern App. at A95). The filing of the
| Cohéent Order on the Hamden land records caused the environmental condition of the Tire
| .Pc:).nd, and the fact that it is a solid waste disposal area required to be closed, to become
matters of public knowledge. See Conn. Gen. Stat. §§ 22a-225(e) and 22a-434 (requiring
theﬁling on the land records of environmental orders issued by the Commissioner). Much
..'ﬁké the filing of a notice of lis pendens, the filing of the 1998 Consent Order on the land
_r:e'_c_ords put the world on notice that there are environmental issues affecting the property
t_hét are the subject of an enforcement action by the Commissioner. /d. (filing of orders on
| the land records “shall constitute a notice to the owner’s heirs, successors and assigns”).

| The trial court further found that since June 2003, on numerous occasions, Modern
Materials has been reminded that its presence interferes with the closure of the Tire Pond.
Modern Materials was served in October 2004 with a copy of the 2001 Judgment and the
October 7, 2004 Memorandum of Decision. In the summer of 2008, Modern Materials,
through its president, Skip Tucker, engaged in some settlement discussions concerning the
closure of the Tire Pond. Mr. Tucker's attomey, Mr. Acampora, the same attorney who
negotiated and represented Modern Materials on the June 11, 2003 lease, also
represented Gatewéy fn the 2007 negotiations for the Gateway Agreement, which calls for
- Gateway to close the Tire Pond in accordance with the June 2007 Closure Plan. In

September 2007, when the Commissioner authorized Gateway to close the Tire Pond in

13




accordance W|th the June 2007 Closure Plan, Mr. Klemmer, an employee of Fuss & O'Neill,

Zﬁsent to Mr Tucker at Mr. Tucker's request, a copy of the final grading plan, which shows

:--that the 6 8 acre stnp Modem Materials is occupying must be filled and graded under the

: | June 2007 Closure Pilan. At that time Mr. Klemmer also had conversations with Mr. Tucker
L about the fact that the strip was within the closure area. On March 28, 2008, counsel to the
.Clonir;!sswner sent a letter to Mr. Acampora stating that Modern Materials was occupying a
.part of the Tire Pond and would need to move. The letter also stated that the 2007 Closure
Plan requiréd the area Modern Materials was occupying to be closed, and that proper

: closure of the Tire Pond cannot occur while Modern is occupying its current location.

M O D at 8-9 (Modern App. at A2 — A93).

These unchallenged facts establish that Modern Materials had fuil knowledge of the

: trl'al court’s previous orders in this case, as well as the requirement that the area of the Tire

- Pond Modern Materials is leasing must be closed.

D. The Trial Court Has Inherent Authority to Vindicate Its Prior Judgment
and Order.

The 2001 Judgment said that the Commissioner could close the Tire Pond if Mr.
Fgfricie!li did not, and it enjoined Mr. Farricielli, his companies, and their tenants from
iﬁt;erfering with the Commissioner’s closure. 2001 Judgment at §[{ 2-3, pp. 31-32 and | 5,

| p 35 (Modern App. at AG61 — AB2 and A65). In 2004, after Mr. Farricielli interfered with
.Gateway’s work at the Tire Pond under the second memorandum of understanding, the trial

court strengthened the 2001 Judgment by enjoining

all persons who are given notice thereof, from preventing the

- Commissioner, his agents, employees and contractors from having full
and complete access to the Tire Pond and/or Parcel A, and from
Interfering with actions taken by the Commissioner pursuant to
paragraph 3 of the September 21, 2001 judgment.
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Oc:tobef7 2004 Memorandum of Decision, 1 8, p. 6 (Comm’r App. at A7). Modern

1 Méterlals was served with a copy of the October 7, 2004 Memorandum of Decision and the

001 Judgment on October 28, 2004. M.O.D. at 4-5 (Modern App. at A88 — A89). Now, the

:_ft’rfa[ court has specifically directed Modern Materials to move from the spot it is occupying

[

“onth
Mo D. at 16- 17 (Modern App. at A100 — A101).

& Tire Pond so that the Commissioner may complete the closure of the Tire Pond.

The trial court has the power “to fashion a remedy appropriate to the vindication of a
pnor .. judgment.” AvalonBay, 260 Conn. at 239 (quoting Connecticut Pharm. Ass’n, Inc.
v Milano, 191 Conn. 555, 563 (1983)). This power is an inherent power of the court.
A?é!onBay, 260 Conn. at 241. From this inherent power flow the trial court's continuing

ﬁ_risdiction to effectuate prior judgments, id., the trial court’s power to coerce compliance

wnth its orders, Papa v. New Haven Fed’n of Teachers, 186 Conn. 725, 737 (1982), the

g ﬁb@er to hold persons in violation of a court c;rder in contempt, AvalonBay, 260 Conn. at
{ 241 and the power to enter other post-judgment orders as appropriate, Connecticut
""P_hann. Ass’n, 191 Conn. at 563-64 (trial court had inherent power to order retroactive

| adjustment of plaintiff's professional fee); Rocque v. Design Land Developers of Milford,
“Inc., 82 Conn. App. 361 (Conn. App. Ct. 2004) (trial court had jurisdiction to consider

 Commissioner’s motion for contempt even though defendant was in compliance with the

prior judgment at the time of the hearing).

| The trial court may “fashion whatever orders [are] required to protect the integrity of
'ﬁ"t;h.e original . . . judgment.” Connecticut Pharm. Ass'n, 191 Conn. at 563-64. Here, the
2“9rder that is the subject of this writ of error protects two of the trial court's prior orders in

‘_f;thig case - the 2001 Judgment, which authorized the Commissioner to close the Tire Pond
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if th'e.'ffé:rricielli entities did not, and the October 7, 2004 Memorandum of Decision, which

p’roﬁift.)ited alt persons having notice from interfering with the closure of the Tire Pond by the

; mmiséioner. Having found that Modern Materials is blocking the Commissioner’s

cldéﬁfe of_fhe Tire Pond, that Modern Materials’ lease post-dated both the recorded 1998

bc;néernt Order and the 2001 Judgment enforcing its terms, and that Modern Materials had
nci):t.ice of the 1998 Consent Order, the 2001 Judgment, and the October 7, 2004,
&;mo-randum of Decision, the trial court properly entered an order directing Modern
Méferials to move from the Tire Pond.

E. Even Though A Non-Party, Modern Materials Is Bound By the 2001
Judgment and the October 7, 2004 Memorandum of Decision.

‘Modem Materials claims that it cannot be bound by the 2001 Judgment or the

Oéiober 7, 2004 Memorandum of Decision since it is not a formal party to this action. This

gunﬂént, however, flies in the face of settled Connecticut law, which holds that “[t]he law

*

'ciéar that a person may be bound by the terms of an injunction, even though not a party

t_,_o:.t_:hg action, if he has notice or knowledge of the order and is within the class of persons

"'ho_'se conduct is entitled to be restrained or who acts in concert with such persons.”
eMartino v. Monroe Little League, Inc., 192 Conn. 271, 277 (1984) (internal citation and

qu__oiation marks omitted).”

The cases cited by Modern Materials also stand for this proposition. See DeMartino, 192
Conn. at 277: Channeli v. Applied Research, Inc., 472 So.2d 1260 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.
1985) (where former employees had been enjoined from competing with their former
employe:r, but starting working for a new employer, the new employer, who had knowledge
Of,_the Injunction, could be found in contempt, even though it was not a party to the
“junction); Dalfon v. Meister, 84 Wis. 2d 303 (1978) (non-party corporation holding stock

that had notice of an injunction prohibiting the transfer of the stock was found in contempt
or transferring it).
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o " The October 7, 2004 Memorandum of Decision “enjoin[ed] all persons who are given

: ;;-'n;t'ice"'thereof,- from preventing the Commissioner, his agents, employees and contractors

complete access to the Tire Pond and/or Parcel A, and from interfering

from having full and

: ‘1\:Nith aétions taken by the Commissioner pursuant to paragraph 3 of the September 21,

2001 judgment.” October 7, 2004 Memorandum of Decision, { 6, p. 6 (Comm’r App. at A7).

:I'\;ﬂ'c.adern Materials was served with this order and thus had notice of it. The injunction was
.eé,igned to prevent persons from interfering with the Commissioner’s closure of the Tire
;F?_'on_d,. precisely what the trial court found Modern Materials is doing here. Thus, the trial

court properly concluded that Modern Materials is within the class of persons whose

I o;:.jfduct is entitled to be restrained and is therefore bound by it.

" In addition to binding non-parties with notice who are within the class of persons

ntitiéd to be restrained, an injunction decree binds “not only the parties defendant ‘but also
z_iho;sé:'idéntiﬁed with them in interest, in “privity” with them, represented by them or subject

to their contral.” DeMartino, 192 Conn. at 276-77 (internal citation omitted). Modern

aterlals argues that it cannot be bound because the trial court made no finding that

odern Materials is in privity with the Farricielli entities. This argument lacks merit for two

easons First, as just discussed, being identified in interest or being in privity with an
nlﬁi_rféd ‘defendant are not the only circumstances under which a non-party may be bound
Eha\iir'_ig notice and being within the class of persons entitled to be restrained also binds a
Oquényto a-court order. Second, the facts as found by the trial court are sufficient to

-..SUS_f_a'i:n the legal conclusion that Modern Materials is both identified in interest and in privity

lth '_th_c_e Farricielli defendants — at least as far as the right to accupy the Leased Premises
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-.:_: As the cases cited by Modern Materials hold, “privity” is the sharing of the same

|e..g.a..l rigfﬂuitkby the same parties. See Joe’s Pizza, Inc. v. Aetna Life & Cas. Co., 236 Conn.

:'563 868 (1996); Aetna Cas. & Surety Co. v. Jones, 220 Conn. 285, 305-06 (1991). “Privity

?ordinanly denotes a mutual or stccessive relationship to the same rights of property.” 47
: Am .Jur 2d Judgments § 587 (2010). “[A] privy is one who, after commencement of the
_édtbn has acquired an interest in the subject matter affected by the judgment through or

nder one of the parties, as by inheritance, succession, purchase, or assignment.” /d. at §

-;5”8'3‘.
o Hére, as discussed in part I(B), supra at 10-12, Modern Materials’ right to possess

-thé:!_.éased Premises is co-extensive with the possessory right held by Mr. Farricielli in

;00.(_)_,‘w.hen he initiated the series of transactions that led to Modern Materials’ 2003 license
rom Mr. Farricielli and lease from State Five. The initial transfer of the strip in January

2000 from Mr. Farricielli to Look Investment (now State Five), was subject fo the recorded

1998 Consent Order, which required closure of the Tire Pond, and the 2003 license and
ga;_e to Modern Materials were subject to both the recorded 1998 Consent Order and the
2001 Judgment. In other words, Modern Materials’ right to occupy the Leased Premises is
h_é_._same as Mr. Farricielli’s right and State Five's right, that is, the right is completely
:ubj'ect to closure of the Tire Pond by the Commissioner. Although the Commissioner did
ot pbresent her motion to the trial court on the theory of identification of interest with or
;Dir_iIVi_'ty between Mr. Farricielli and Modern Materials, the trial court’s conclusion that Modern
at::eria[s is bound by the 2001 Judgment and the October 7, 2004 Memorandum of

!Qecision is legally sustainable on this ground as well.
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’ 'Mad'em Materials Has Not Shown That the Trial Court’s Finding That Modern
. Materials 1s Blocking Closure Is Clearly Erroneous

A “ Standard of Review

'Modern Matenais argues that the Commissioner did not show why it is necessary

that Modern Matenals must vacate the property, so that it was error for the trial court to

heve found that Modern Materials must move.® This argument goes to the trial court's
;factual f ndlng that it is necessary for Modern Materials to move because Modern Materials

block:ng the closure Accordingly, this Court cannot sustain this argument unless this

lCourt concludes that the finding is clearly erroneous. It is well-settied that this Court will
_nge great deference to the findings of the trial court and will uphold a factual finding unless
this Court is "Ieﬂ: with the definite and firm oonwctlon that a mlstake has been made.”
_amc:elh 269 Conn at 212 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)

B. The Finding That It Is Necessary for Modern Materials to Move Because
Modern Materials Is Blocking Closure Is Not Clearly Erroneous.

5 Here as discussed supra at 7-8, the trial court found that Modern Materials’
_sence is both preventing closure of the entire Tire Pond, as required by the
_-Qom_m_lssioner's regulations, and is also preventing closure of the Tire Pond in accordance

ith the June 2007 Closure Plan, which is the only approved closure plan for the Tire Pond.

: {Modern Materials does not disagree with these findings, but simply points to

dd__it_i_o_nal evidence that there is no emergency and that it would be difficult for Modern

Although Modern Materials has included this issue in its argument section, it is not among
ts Statement of Issues. Nor has Modern Materials identified the applicable standard of
eview for this issue. Accordingly, it would be appropriate for this Court to decline to
onsider this issue, as Modern Materials has inadequately briefed it. See Conn. Prac. Bk
h67—4(a) and (d); Label Sys. Corp. v. Aghamohammadi, 270 Conn. 291, 301 n.9 (2004). |
e_ event this Court does consider the issue, the Commissioner briefs it here.
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Mateﬂals to move. This is not sufficient reason to overturn the trial court’s finding that

Modern Matertals is blocking closure and must move.

Whether or not there is currently an emergency at the Tire Pond — and, owing to the

_ pnor efforts of the Commissioner and Gateway, there is no longer any emergency there —

: the fact is that closure in accordance with environmental regulations and the June 2007

j_'.l'ciic‘;.sure Plan cannot be finished until Modern Materials moves. As to the difficulty of

: o‘w.n making: the trial court found that as soon as Modern Materials received a March 28,

2008 letter from the Commissioner requesting it to move, it began bringing on to the Tire

Pond more material than it had previously stored there premsely so that it could make the

argument that moving would be difficult. M.O.D. at 8 (Modern App. at A93).

In considering this challenge to the trial court's factual finding that Modern Materials
must move, this Court reviews the whole recofd. Farricielli, 269 Conn. at 212-13. A factual

mding is clearly erroneous only if the appellate court, after reviewing the entire record, is

eft with the “definite and firm conviction” that a mistake was made. /d. at 212. The lack of
emergency and Modern Materials’ self-imposed difficulties are not sufficient to give rise to
he “definite and firm conviction” that the trial court made a mistake in finding that Modern
: Meterials must move because it is preventing closure. As Modern Materials’ argument in
-_ _thfs regard does not even come close to meeting the clearly erroneous test, the trial court's

Tactual finding must stand.

1
J
b
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L ..-_-'ii"he'_TriaI Court Properly Concluded That Modern Materials Received Due
3 'Process

< A Standard of Review

| Modem Materials claims that it has been denied due process of law because its
roperty r|ght - its lease — was terminated without a hearing. The question of whether
Modem Matenals has been denied due process. is a question of law, subject to plenary.

ewew by this Court. Town of New Hartford v. Connecticut Res. Recovery Auth 291

-?Conn. 489, 500 (2009).

B. Modern Materials Was Afforded Due Process

Modern Materials’ argument is wholly without merit for two reasons. First, the

property interest at stake here — the license and lease for the Leased Premises that
Mo_dern Materials received in June 2003 from Mr. Farricielli and State Five — are, as
;_diéc;ijssed supra at 10-12, subject to the closure of the Tire Pond according to the terms of
the .recordAed 1998 Consent Order and the provisions of the 2001 Judgment. In its brief,
Mé&ern Materials inexplicably asserts that the lease was executed before any of the court
_.orders were entered. Brief of the Plaintiff in Error, at 13. This is completely contrary to the
Efacts the license and lease date from June 2003; the 2001 Judgment, incorporating and
hforcmg the recorded 1998 Consent Order, issued on September 21, 2001. There is
imply no question here that, whatever property right Modern Materials has, it is

Ircumscribed by and is subject to, the requirement that the Tire Pond be closed.

Under the due process cases, it is axiomatic that before one engages in the due

- process analysis, one must first identify the property interest at stake. See Board of
_e_Qents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 570-71 (1972). Property interests arise from, among-other

Ources, state law, and, to have a property interest in a particular thing, “a person must
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ave more than an abstract need or desire for it. He must have more than a unilateral

expectatlon ofit. He must, instead, have a legitimate claim of entitement to it.” /d. at 577.

o Because Modern Materials’ property interest in the Leased Premises was always

o subject to the closure of the Tire Pond, Modern Materials has no entittement to possess the

site without that restriction. Thus, when the trial court ordered Modern Materials to move to

accommodate closure of the Tire Pond, there is no due process vioiation, because there
was no interference with a legitimate property interest. Modern Materials asserts that it has
the right to stay in the Leased Premises even though it is in the way of closure, but Modern
Materials never had an unrestricted right to occupy the Tire Pond. Its occupancy has
always been subject to the requirement of closure.

The second reason there is no due process violation here is that Modern Materials
had a hearing before the trial court. Even assuming that Modern Materials’ June 2003
license and lease for the Leased Premises soinehow were not subject to the prior recorded
1998 Consent Order and the 2001 Judgment enforcing it, Modern Materials had the
opportunity to appear and did appear before the trial court to show why it should not have
to move. Modern Materials was properly served with an order to show cause. It appeared
and subjected itself to the jurisdiction of the trial court. Modern Materials had notice and an
opportunity to be heard. It presented evidence for its cause, submitted briefs advocating its
cause, and argued its case in court to a neutral fact-finder. These procedures
unquestionably satisfy due process requirements. See Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v.
1 oudermill. 470 U.S. 532 (1985) (what process is due). |

The trial court properly concluded that Modern Materials was afforded the process it

was due in determining whether it should or should not be required to move its operations
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in order to effectuate the trial court’s prior judgment and order and to enable the
Commissioner to close the Tire Pond in accordance with her solid waste regulations and

the approved June 2007 Closure Plan.
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CONCLUSION

- For 2l the above-cited reasons, the Commissioner respectfully requests this Court to

: é'fﬁrr'ﬁ'_ the decision below.
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DOCKET NO. CV 99-0591020 8 . STATE OF CONNECTICUT
ARTHUR J. ROCQUE, JR., COMMISSIONER :  JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF
OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, . HARTFORD AT HARTFORD

TOWN OF HAMDEN, AND JOSEFH 1.
VENDITTO, ZONING ENFORCEMENT
OFFICER FOR THE TOWN OF HAMDEN

V.

JOSEPH J. FARRICIELL], HAMDEN
SALVAGE, INC., TIRE SALVAGE, INC,,

NORTH HAVEN TIRE DISPOSAL, INC.,

THE QUINNIPIACK. REAL ESTATE AND

DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, AND :

HAMDEN SAND & STONE, INC., . OCTOBER 7, 2004

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION'

The plaintiff in this case; the Department of Environmental Protection, has
brought this Motion for Contempt alleging violation of the court’s iﬁjunction dated
September 21, 2001, claiming that the principal defendant in that action, Joseph_ J.
Farricielli, has failed to do what he was required to do under that injunction and has done |
what he was prohibited from doing. In that inju‘n(':tion'tbe court ordered the defendant to
either clean up the “tire pond” site on his property in accordance with an earlier consent’
order and stipulated agreement or, failing that, not to interfere with elfforts by the
Commissioner of Environmental Protection to effect remediation.

Accqrding to the Commissioner, the defendant did not manage to complete the

remediation and has now directly interfered with the Commissioner’s efforts to get the

- ;o ‘0T 0¥04L8VH
job done. 19n07 ¥01¥3dNS
W43 3HL 40 301440

805 ¥ 8- 130 W
a3t
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The DEP also seeks a finding of contempt and incarceration agaiilst Joseph
Farricielli on the basis that he failed to file an “Environmental Land Use Restriction”
as ordered by the court. |

The defendant was unable to complete the remediation at the pond and the
Commissioner in accordance with the court’s decision hired Gateway Terininal
Company, a New Haven corporation, which agreed, without charge to the
Commissioner, to bring in, by barge, soil from the so-called “Big Dig” in Boston; to
u'uék it to the tire pond and to deposit it in the pond. To accomplish this, Gateway
built a gravel road around the perimeter of the pond with a so-called chip seal surface
and built a road on a portion of Parcel B which extends into Parcel C and goes to the
right-of~way over the railro.ad track on the west of the defendant’s property. This
portion that runs from the right-of-way to the main boundary of Parcel B is referred to,
as the access road. At the present time this access road is in very poor condition with
many potholes.

The DEP maintains that the defendant interfered with the remediation project
in several ways. First, the Department claims that the defendant was responsible for
the damage to the access ; road by gfantmg an easement to a tenant, State Five
Investments, formerly LOOK. Investments, claiming that this eventually led to tenants
using the access road and damaging it. The Department also claims that the |
defendant brought an excavator into Parcel B in order to remove 2 large pile of loam

which belonged to him, and that this excavator chewed up the surface of the chip

sealed road.
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The giving of an easement itself had no effect on the road and the
remediation. It is questionable as to the_ amount of the damage that was caused by the
;tenaﬁts to a road which was designed to accommodate 20-25 ton trucks on a steady
basis. The defendant maintains that the ex..cavator bad what he calls “street tracks” on
it which would not disturb this &uck route. This was not successfully réﬁxted by the
Commissioner. It also seems that this excavator machine would prébably have
ﬁaversed ;the road on only two different occasions to obtain ingress and egress
although this is not definitely established one way or the other by ei_ther party. There
was evidence about the chip seal surface of the road but there was no evidence about
fhe base. Considering the size and volume of the Gatgway trucks and intervening
- winter weather, it is doubtful as to who or what caused the aﬂeged $45,000 worth of
damage to the road.

The next allegation is that the defendant interfered with the Department’s
contractqrs’ source of supply, i.e. the Bectel Corporation at thg Big Dig in Boston, by
raising questions with the contractor in Boston and with Gateway about the quality of

the soil coming from the Big Dig. Mr. Angelo testified that, in his view, these
questions caused alarm and eventually caused the supply of soil to be dried up. It was
evident, however, that the initial stoppage of the supply of the soil was caused by lack
of material in Boston, When it became available later, it could have been requested
by Angelo who, however, was reluctant to do so because of his “view” of the
lsituation dnd uncertainty caused by the letters from the defendant.

Plaintiff next claims that the defendant interfered with the project by harassing

- Gateway, in that the defendant sent monthly statements to that corporation totaling
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almost half a million dollars claiming use and occupancy of its land. This was done .

without any intention of seeking paymeﬁt. Because of the conﬁnu'mg nature and
amount of these invoices, the court considers this to be harassment and taken with the
action toward Bectel and Mr. Angelo’s reluctance because of thgt to order new
material; this amounts, in the opinion of the court, to sé;ious harassment.

In addition to the above claims the Department brought out that the defendant
had sent about 45 Freedom of Information requests to the DEP. He claims he was
simply seeking information which he would have a right to do. However, although
the defendant would normally have a right to seek informatiori about his land from
the DEP, the manner in which he did it, knowing full well that each letter required a
four-day response, leads to the conclusion that he was ha.rassing'the‘DEP with his
many requests. The court disbelieves the reason he gave for this acti;rity. With this
harassment he has definitely wasted the time of the DEP and the taxpayers’ money
that it takes to service his request. '

In the opinion of the couﬂ the plaintiff has produced evidence that the
defendant engag;ed in serious harassment of the plaintiff and of Gateway arid Bectel
such that it could cause interference with the DEP’s work. However, there is, in the
opinion of the court, not enough evidence to say that the plaintiff has proven by a
“fair preponderance of thcf_ evidence” that the defendant actually interfered with
progress of the project. The court will not find him in contémpt for interference at
this time. PI.ov;ever, the court cautions the defendant that his actions ﬁolate the spirit
of the injunction and come close enough to a finding of contempt that if these

activities continue they may well be deemed actual interference.
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The subject matter of this hearing is concerned with possible violations of the

injunction issued by this court. Because of the proveh harassing actions of the

| defendant, the court is of the opinion that some further clarification, guidance and
.strengthenjng of its injuﬁcﬁon is required and so the court issues the following
supplemental ordets as an amendment to its decision of September 21, 2001.

L The defendant is enjoined from demanding that the Commissioner or
any of its contractors now owe, or must pay for, any rent or any fees or other
remuneration for use and occupation of Parcel B and the North Haven parcel (the Tire
Pond) du:ing the period in which remediation of these properties is ongoing.

2. The DEP, as part of its being fully authorized to take émy action
necessary and appropriate to‘ address the environmental con&itions at the Tire Pond,
may include, inter-alia, monitoring c.onditions, retaining of consultants to perform the
work set out in the February 1998 Consent Order and secure the site including thtla
control of all entry and egress from the site.

3. Because of the defendant’s proven harassment of the Commissioner
and his contractors and suppliers, the defendant is enjoined from having any contact
or communication, direct or indirect vdﬁ the contractors or mateﬁal suppliers
employed or used by the Commissioner for purposes of conducting site remediation
wbrk pursuant to the court’s September 21, 2001 judgment except communications

between cquﬂsel for the defendant and counsel for the Commissioner.

i

4, The defendant is enjoined ffom having any contact or communication
whether direct or indirect with the Commissioner, his agents or employees concerning

the subject matter of the court’s September 21, 2001 judgment until such time as the
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Commissioner notifies the defendant in writing that he has concluded his remediation

work at the site, except for communication between coun;sel for the defendant and
counsel for the Commissioner. Numbers 3 and 4 are aimed at curtailing further
harassment of the Commissioner and his contractors and employees.

5, During the course of this hearing it was bfoughi; out that the defendant
transferred his interest in the LOOK. Investment busingss to a friend at a time when
the remediation was in progress and that he granted an easement over Parcel B io the
owner of this business during that period. It is clear that such a transfer can lead to
complications in continuing the remediation. Therefore, the court enjoins the
defendant from transferring any Jegal or equitable interest in the Tire Pond proiserty
or Parcel A or Parcel C without the written approval of the Commissioner or the court
until such time as the Commissioner notifies the defendant in writing that he has
concluded his remediation work. Parcel C is included because it controls access to
Parc;,cls B and A through its control of the right of way.

6. The court herewith enjoins all persons who are given notice thereof,
frorln preventing the Commissioner, his agents, employees and contractors from -
having full and complete access to the Tire Pond and/or Parcel A, and from
interfering with actions taken by the Commissioner pursuant to paragraph 3of the
September 21, 2001 judgment.

As td the failure to file an Environmental Land Use Restriction for over three
years, the court has a problem. Without a recollection of any discussion about the
ELUR and time limits at the ﬁme. of the hearing on the original injunction and noting

that time ]mnts were used in other parts of the original decision, the court is unclear
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as to the purpose at that time of requiring its filing, therefore it must rely on the

situation as it is today. The injunction of 2001 has no time limits mentioned as to the
ELUR. The court has considerable doubt as {o the aplﬁﬁcability of the ELUR to the
jaresent situation considering the incomplete state of the remediation of the Tire Pond
and the cost of potential repeated filings and repeated recordings. Frankly, the court
can see no reason to eﬁorce the filing of the ELUR at this time, Therefore, if the
Commissioner is of the opinion that the filing of an ELUR at thjé time is nece;ssary
and importanf, the court requests that the Attormey General, acﬁng for the
Commissioner,' file with the court a motion and a detailed brief as to why this action
should be taken by Ehe defendant. The same isto be treated as any other pleading
with copies sent to the defendant and the defendant shall have time to reply and file a
brief if necessary and the court will then rule on the question. The court ié aware that
the defendant has filed ari ELUR at this time which is incomplete and orders that the
completion of that be held in abeyance until this question has been decided.

One final word. The defendant had been given a good deal by the
Commissioner and Gateway. Why he would endanger it by harassing the bEP and
Gateway and wasting taxpayers’ and his own time and money shocks and puzzles the
court. He is in danger of “cutting his own throat”. If the defendant is wise he will
Ieave the Commissioner and contractors and employees to do the job and stay out of
it coﬁapietc‘ly. ; 7.

Remember that t]ﬁe Commissioner has requested incarceration for failure to
file the ELUR. The court has ruled against that But the court does have th;a power to

incarcerate in order to ensure that its orders are carried out and if at some time in the




future, the defendant is found to be in violation of theri,njunction by harassing,

interfering or slowing down the project, he could be incarcerated until the project’is

completed.

7
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STATEMENT OF CASE

This case is based on theories of piercing the corporate veil brought by

durrently State Five's president.

§ the plaintiffs, the commissioner of environmental protection, (commissioner), the
town of Hamden and its zoning enforcement officer, against the defendants,

State Five Industrial Park, Inc. (State Five) and Jean L. Farficielli, who is

In September 2001, the plaintiffs obtained a judgment against Joseph' J.

Farricielli, Jean Farricielli’'s husband, and various companies owned or controlled

T

by him for violations of state environmental iawg;aba:iéégﬂ'Eéﬁiﬁg}egulations (thé
2001 judgment). The named defendants in thaf case yvefg Jq_s,:ep,h:q . Farricielli,

Hamden Salvage, Inc. (Hamden Salvage), Tire Salvagé, Inc. (Tire Salvage),
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North Haven' Tire Disposal, Inc. (Tire Disposal), Quinnipiack Real Estate and

Development Corp. (QRED), and Hamdgn Sand & St_one, lnc (Hamden Sand).
The 2001 judgment required the defendants to close two lan;:!ﬁifs located in
Hamden and North Haven, and to pay the bla-intiffs $3.8 million in civil penalties,
The 2001 judgment also reqﬁired’the defendants to post a $1 million bond to
cover work at one of the two- landfills — the “Tire F’ond"_—m as well as post a
$45,000 bond to cover some dike stabilization work at the Tire Pond. The-20-01
judgment aiso made the defendants personally liable for any amounts the
‘co‘mmissioner expended in addreséing the environrmental bonditions at the two
landfills. |

In the amended complaint ln this case, dated Septembef 15, 2005, the
plaintiffs allege several claims based on piercing and reverse-piercing of the
corporate vell. The first and second counts of the amended complaint seek
reverse veil piercing’ under the instruh'lentalfty and identity rules.against State
Fi\}e. The ﬁlaintiffs claim t_hat the defendant State Five is the alter ego of'Joseph
J. Farricielli, such that State Five should be held liable for the obligations
imposed by the 2001 jﬁdgment. Couﬁts fhree and four seek veil piercing under
the instrumentality énd identity ruiés against-Jeén Farriciélli. The plaintiffs also
allege that State Five is the alter ego of Jean Farricielli, and, therefore, she
should be held !iabfq fo_[ the obligations irﬁposed by the 2001 .judgment, |
assuming the corpor{at‘e veil of State Five is first pierced, imposing upon S-tate

Five the obligationé of the 2001 judgment, Base_d updn theories of veil piercing,

2 ' A12




o

' rthe plaintiffs seek to impose upon the defendants the monetary aspects of the
2001 judgment as well as prohibitory injunctions. |
The defendani;s deny that State FiVe and Joseph Farricielli are alter egos

of one another. The defendants further deny that State Fivé and Jean Farricielli
are alter egos of one ancther. The defendants also maintain that, as a matter'of
physics and law, Joseph Farricielll and Jean Farricielli are not alter egos of one
another. The defendants argue that, as a matter of lavi}, Jean Farricielli cannot
" be liable on the 2001 judgment because the plaintiffs cannot pierce the corporate
veil from Joseph Farricielli, an individual, through the corporation to Jean
Farriciefii, another individu'al, to make Jean Farricielli responsible for Joseph
Farricielli’s personal judgment debts. In their amended an.swer', dét’_ed February
12, 2008, the défendanté raise four special defenses: abandonment, failure to
mitigate damages, estoppel and lack of clean hands.

" This matter was tried to the court on February 13-15, 2008, February 20-

21, 2008 and March 5-6, 2008. The last poéttriai brief was filed on October 14,

2008,
Il

FINDINGS OF FACT
The following facts were proved ét trial by a fair preponderance of the
evidence.? |
A

Parties and Nonparties
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The plaintiff Gina McCarthy, is the commissionér of environmental
protedtidn of.th.e state of Connecticut (commissioner). The commissioner is
_ charged with the supervisidn and enforcement of environmental laws and is
| generally empowered by General Statutes § 22a-6 (a) (3) to institute all legal
proceedmgs necessary to enforce statutes, regulations, penmts or orders
administered, adopted or issued by her. The plaintiff town of Hamden is a
Connecticut municipality. The plaintiff Bruce E. Driské is the zoning enforcement
officer of the town. -. |

The defendant State Five is a Connecticut corporation that both owns and
has listed 2895 State Street, Hamden, Connecﬁcut (Parcél C) as its business
address \;uith the secretary of state. Parcel C abuts Parcel B on'the north and
Parcel A on the south. State Five is a closely held corporation, which is typically
a corporation organized under state law with a few shareholders intimately
involved in running the business.' It is & small business engaged primarily in
leasing out its property fo tenants. As a landlord, it has; ordinary expenses for
property tax.utilities snowplowing and landscaping Prior to January 27, 2003,
State Five's name was Look Investment Agency, Inc, (Look). Joseph Farrlmelh
was presndent of Look prior to February 2001. He ran all aspects of the
company, the stock of which was owned by Recycling Enterprises, Inc.
(Recycling Enterprrses) Recycling Enterprises is a Connecticut company owned
80 percent by defendant Jean Farricielli and 20 percent by the Farriciellis’ two
sons. The evidence demonstrates that the Farriclellis’ two sons had no real

involvement w_ifh Look/State Five or Recycling Enterprises, They. did not make
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. any decisions necessary to run the business and did not make any suggestions

that things be done any differently. Before February 2001, State Five was in the

o ————psiness of being a landlord, receiving income from the commercial tenants on

Parcel C.
The defendant Jean Farricielli is currently president and sole officer and

director of State Five. She is the majority stockholder of Recycling Enterprises,
which owns 100 perceht of the stock of State Five. Jean has-been married to |
Joseph Farricielli fbr approximately forty years. They reside together at 108
Cherry Hill Road in Branfo'rd, Connecticut. Jean Farricielli has owned the home
since 1969. While the residence was owned debt free in the 1990s, it now |
carries a $650,000 mortgage. Joseph Farricielli is an obligor dn tﬁe mortgage.
Joseph:‘Farricielli has opgrated a number of businesses over the last thirty
years or so. He was president of Look from 1967 throtigh 2001. -Look underwent
several name changes during this period. "On October 3, 1967, the Hemingway
Realty Company was changed to Joseph Farricielli Real Estate & Insurance
Con';pany, Inc. On January 26, 1973, it became Look Insurance Agéncy, Inc.
The name changed to Look [nvestment Agency; lﬁc. on November 15, 1985. In
the late 1980s, Joseph Farricielli transferred all of the stock of Look to Recycling
Enterprises, which was owned by his wife and two sons. Over the ye.ars, Joseph
Farricielli transferred{ several parcels of property to Look by quit claim deed. Qn
February 29, 1996, Joseph Farricielli transferred Parcel C to Look.
| William LaVelle is a !ong-.ﬁme friend of Jean and Joseph Farricielli. Before

his involvement with State Five, LaVelle owned and ran several businesses.
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LaVelie had prior business dealings with Joseph Farricielli. During 2001, LaVelle

became preSIdent and then owner of Look. -

- Alan Mandell is a certifi ed public accountant (CPA). He testified at trial
| and was qualified as an expert in certified public accounting and forensic
- acc‘our.ltihg: |
" Phil DeCaprio is also a CPA. He is Joseph Farricielli's first cousin.
. DeCaprio provided accounting services to Jean and Jolseph Farriciell and their

business for many yea'rs..
B.
The Rocgue Action and the 2001 Judament

By complaint dated July 9, 1999, the plaintiff commissioner commenced
Rocque v. Farricielli, Superior Court ]udrmal district of Hartford Docket No. CV
199 0591020 (the Rocque action), which resuilted in the 2001 Judgment. The
original named defendants in that case were Joseph Farricielli,-Hamden Salvage,
Tire Salvage, and North Haven Tire Disposal. On October 14, 1999, the
commissioner moved to add Look as a defendant to the Rocque action. The
defendants objected to the motion. After oral argument on the motion, the court
(Booth, J.) denied the motion on December 29, 1999, On January 13, 2000, the
commissioner moved to add Hamden Sand as a defendant to the Rocque action.
By stipulatien Qated March 8, 2000, in the Rocque action, the commissioner and
the defend.ants' in the Rocque action agreed to add-Hamden Sand as a -

defendant. Hamden Sand was 'formerly Hamden Storage and Trucking, Inc.

(Hamden Storage). On March 22, 2000, the commissioner, the town and the
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town’s zoning enforcement officer filed a fourth amended complaint in the'
Rocqge action. The defendants were Joseph Farricielii, Ha_mden Salvage, Tire
Salhvage, Tire Disposal, QRED and Hamden Sand.

After the Rpcque action was comme‘ncéd, Joseph Farricielli caused
Hamden Sand to go out of business. Jean Farricielli was persona!!y'f liable for six
nofes payable as of June 1, 2000. Jean and Joseplh Farricielli caused Stafe Five
to assume, without cons:ic‘ieratibn,'debt of Hamden Sand,' debt that had been
| personally guéranteed by Jean and Joseph Farricielli. The Hamden Sand debt
assumed by Look was later refinanced. State Five remains Iiablebn this debt.
Assets were also traﬁsferred from Hamden Sand to Look, inc*;luding a large
' quantity of topsoil. The topsoil was eventually sold for $20,000 in July, 2007.

,Triél of the Roc':que action was held in September and ‘October, 2000.
Additio_nal festimony was heard in March, 20(‘)1.. Posttrial briefing occurred in
April and May, 2001. '

On September 21, 2001, the court (Hale, J.) entered the 2001 judgment in
the Rocque at;tion. The plaintiffs obtained a judgment agjainst Joseph Farricielli
and five companies owned and/or controlled by him: Hamden Salvage; Tire
Salvage; Tire Disposal; QRED; .and Hamden Sand. The 2001 judgment
concerned the property known as the Tire Pond and Parcel A. The 2001
judgment required the defendants to c_omply with a February 1998 consent order
.issued by the comrr;issioner against all the defendants except QRED and |
Hamden Sand, and to fund the closure of twb ilegal solid waste areas on land

" located in Hamden: the Tire Pond, on Parcel B, owned by Joseph Farricielli; and
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the Q-Park laﬁdﬁl! on Parcel A, owned by QRED. It required the defendants to
comply with a Ma%ch, 1997 stipulated judgment between the town and all the
defen-dantsl ékéept QRED and Hamden Sand. The 2001 judgment also required
the defendants to hay. a civil penalty to the commissioner of $2,336,800 and a
civil penalty to the town of $1 ,416,910. Certain work was required to be
perform'ed 6n the Tire Pond and Parcel A. The 2001 judgment alfso required that
the defendants in that action post a $1 million bond to cover the work to be
performed at the Tire Pond and a $45,000 bond to cover dike stabilization work
to be perfofmed at the Tire Pond. The‘ defendants were also made liable for any
sﬁms expended by the commissioner to address environmental conditions at the
site. Joseph Farricielli appealed the judgment of the trial cou'rt.r On June 1,‘
2004, the Surpreme Court affirmed the judgment of the trial cdurt. Rocque v.
Farricielli, 269 Conn. 187, 190, 845 A.2d 1206 (2004). |
The following has been done in furtherance of the work required to be
performed at the Tire Pond pursuant to the 2001 judgment.
Pursuant to a memorandum of understanding dated May 13, 2002 (May
| 13, 2002 MQU), between the defendants to the Rocque action, the
commissioner, Northridge Enterprises, Inc., and Gateway Terminal (Gateway),
the Tire Pond was partially filled with acceptable material and a portion of the
exposéd tires was covered.
Pursuant ti) a memorandum of understanding dated April 24, 2003 (April -

24, 2003 MOU), between the commissioner and Gateway, the Tire Pond
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continued to be partially filled witﬁ acceptable material and an additional portion
of the exposed tires were covered.

Pursuant to a first supplemehtary post-judgment order'on‘ consent in the
Ro_cque action, dated and entered by the court (Sheldon, J.) on October 3, 2007,
and a first stipulaAted order on éonsent in this action, also dated and entered by
the court (Sheldon, J.) on October 3, 2007, Jose‘ph Farriciellli. Tire-Disposa!, 2803
State Street, Inc., and State Five entered into an agreement with Géteway (the
Gateway Agreement) concem-ing additional work at the Tire Pond. Pursuantto
the Gateway Agreement, a closure plan for the Tire Pond was prepared by
Gateway and approved by the commissioner.

| Pursuant to the closure plan, Gateway has continued to fill the Tire Pond
with acceptéble material and to cover the exposed tifes. Four hundred thousand
dollars of the $1 million bond required by the 2001 judgment ﬁas been deposited
into an account with the commissioner. The amount of $450,000 has been paid
by Gateway into an account with the court (trust accou'n't). These monies rﬁay be
disbursed only upon order of the court. Of the funds deposited tb the trust
account, $167,589.83 has been paid by the court to attorneys representing the

I—iamden Economic Development Corporation. Pursuant to the October 3, 2007

-orders in this action and in the Rocque action, this amount “shall serve as a

dollar-for-doliar credit against the civil penalty obtained by Hamden in the 2001
judgment.” Pursuant to the Gateway Agreement, Gateway may, without the
necessity of additional court orders, deposit to the trust account an additional

amount up to $750,000. On September 16, 2005, the commissioner executed on
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a Bank of America account of Joseph Farricielli in the amount of $4,367.151n

partial satisfaction of the 2001 judgment.

Gateway provided 1.2 million cubic yards of acceptable fill for the Tire

-—Pond pursuant to the May 13, 2002 MOU and the April 24, 2003 MOU. Gateway

did not pay any fees u_nder the two MOUs. The plaintiffs did not try to garniéh
$250,000 that Gateway paid Joseph Farricie!li to dump 100,000 cubic yards of fill
on Parcel A..On Parcel B, Gateway was putting fill and had generated $1 million
in ﬁpping fees. The defendants argue that if Gateway were allowed to proceed,
Ga.teway wolld have generated millions of dollars in tipping fees. Gateway was
not allowed to go beyond the first 400,000 cubic yards because there were no
further agreements or court orders. The department of envirdnhﬁental protection
put out a request fof proposals for the rest of the fill. Bids were due by April 21,
2008.
C
LaVelle and State Five

LaVelle began his involvement with State Five before the 2001 judgment
was entered. He had known the Farriciellis .for years. .The Farriciellis had
élléwed LaVelle to share office space, rent free, at State Five’s office. During this
time, LaVelle came up jwith the idea of developing Parcel C as an industrial park.
He had successfqily!developed other commercial property and planned to use |
his experience in iausiness and government to help develop the State Five

property. LaVelle discussed his plans with the Farriciellis. On February 15,

_2001, LaVelle was elected president of Look. His election was reflected on an
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annual report filed with the secretary of the state dated May 14, 2001. The report
indicated that LaVelle was president of Look and Jean Farficielli was vice
president/secretary/director. Joseph Farricielli was no longer reported as a

‘director, officer or stockholder of Look.

After LaVelle became president of Sfate Five, he ran into difficuities trying
to develop Parce! C into an industrial park. LaVelle became convinced that the
state of Connect‘icut and the town would not allow development of Parcel C
because of Josepﬁ Farricielli's ties to the property. LaVeHe had discussjons with
the Farr!'ciel!i's about the difﬁculties'developing the property and the possibility of
becoming owner of Loak.

Three months after the 2001 judgment was entered, Joseph Férricielli
negotiated the fransfer by Récycling Enterprises of all the stock of Look to
LaVelle. At that time, Joseph Farricielli was not a stockhol;ler, director, or officer
of Look or Recycling Enterprises. The agreemeht was entered into on December
1, 2001, by Jean Farricielll, as president of Recycling Enferprises;, and LaVelle.
Pursuant to the agreement, LaVelle purchased all the assets of Look, in return
for assuming obligations of Look and Hamden Sand. LaVelle gave no legal
66nsideration to Recycling Enterprises for the stock. The agreement stated that
LaVelle was interested in developing the property for commercial use, .LaVelle
became presideht, gecretary, director and sole stockholder of Lock.- As part of

.'the agreement, Jean Farricielli and LaVelle entered into an installment sale and
promissory note for a sale price of $2.5 million. The 'parties agreed that LaVelle

would split with the Farriciellis any profits from the development of Parcel C.
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After the transfer of the stock, LaVelle came up with the idea of changing the
name of Look to State Five to further distance the company and Parcel C from
Joseph Farricieli. | |
~ LaVelle's control of State Five, however, was sigﬁiﬂcantly restricted.
Puréuant to the sales agreement, he was not able to mdrtgage or sell any of
State Five's assets. The agreement basically says that LaVelle was going to
receive stock, for which he did not pay anything, and take on debt. Even though
LaVelle was the "owner,” he did not‘ have authority to draw on State Five's credit
line with Citizen’s Bank; oniy Jéan Farricielli had authority fo draw. From January
2001 through August 2004, LaVelle had limited dealings, only a few
conversations, with State Five's bookkeeper and accountant." It Was Jean
Farricielli who dealt with State Five's bodkkeeper and accountant on a regular
- basis. Afthough‘LaVelle was the president and sole stockholder of State Five
from December 2001 fo August 2004, he never put any of his own money into
State Five, He never received any wages from State Five. Contrary to LaVelle's
testimony that Joseph Farricielli was not allowed to have anything to do with
State Five’s checking account while LgVeIle was in charge, Joseph Farricielli
continued to write checks on State Five's checking.account. LaVelle, however,
did sign the corporate tax returns for State Five from 2001 through August 2004.
During LéVe.llq;s tenure at State Five, several new tenants signed leases

for Parcel C, incluc;ing Cardinal Trucking, Newbridge Enterprises, Inc., and
Modern Materials, Corp./Inc. (Modern Materials). When State Five was

transferred to LaVelle, Joseph Farricielli had agreed to assist LaVelle with the
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"olq" tenants. LaVeHé asked Joseph Farricielli to negotiate the lease between
look and Mb_dern Materials. As a result of the lease agreemer_af negotiated by
Jbseph ‘Farriciel!i, State Five received monthly rent from Modem Materials of
between $5000 and $8000. -Look also continued to receive rental income from
the "old” tenants on Parcel C.

After the transfer of ownership, LaVelle continued to run into roadblocks in
developing the property. | No sigﬁiﬁcaht progress was made. LaVelle grew
frustrated with the lack of progress in de\;re!opin'g the property. In August, 2004,
after the 2001 judgment had been affirmed and while contempt proceedings were
pending against Joseph Farricielli for his noncompliance with the 2001 judgment,
LaVelle transferred the stock of State Five back to Recycling Enterprises. No
prayments were ever made on the installment saie and promissory note signed in
December 2001.

D

State Five's Financial Condition

Before LaVelle became involved with State Five, the financial records
show that the business was operating profitably as a landlord. There were no
notes payable to lending institutions for 1988 through 2000, and no loans related

to Hamden Sand were on the books during this period.'

The financial picture of Look/State Five changed dramatically after LaVelle
became president and then owner. Starting in 2001, the company took on
substantial debt while the core business remained the same. On June 4, 2001,

while LaVelle was president, Look and Hamden Sand entered into an agreement




by which Look assumed a $150,000 debt of Hamden Stone and received -20,000

cubic yards of tdpsoil located adjacent to the Tire Pond, (Parcel B), Jean
Far’ric_ie!l'i signed the agreement for Look, while Joseph Farricielli signed for '
Hamden Sand. Asa resulf, Stafe Five assumed debt of Hamden- Sand that Jean
Farr_ic‘:ilelli had personally guaranteed. Joseph Farriciell had also guaranteed the
“debt. Although debt was supposedly assumed with accompanying assets, it was
uncleér whether all the assets actually came over to the business. The topsoil
asset was actually located on Joseph Farricielli's property, not on property of
State Five. The records show that équipmént associatea with debt never came
into the business, nor Qvere the proceeds of any sale of assets reflected in the
books. Later, State Five assumed additional debt relating fo Newbury and
Anthony Garcia. Garcia had agreed to take over the cmshing'oberations and
assumed the business debts and assets of Newbury. When Garcia went out of
" business on or about .May 5, 2003, State Five assumed the debts and assets of
Newbury, which Jean and Joseph Farricielli had personally guaranteed. Jean
and Joseph Farricielii both benefited financially from State Five's assumption of
debt.
State Five u.;as always in need of funds. It was unable to borrow funds on
its own becaL_fse it did not have sufficient income and unencumbered assets.
~ When State Fivé did not have.e_nough money from rents to pay bills, Jean
Farricielli would finance State Five by borrowing money on her personal assets

and Jbseph Farricielli's assets. -She also borrowed money from her mother-in-

law, Josephine Farricielli.
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When Joseph Fafﬁciel_li was still president of Look, he negotiated a legase
withﬂNéxtel to build a cell phoné tower on Parcel C The cell tower was to be
placed partly on property of one of the defendants in the 2001 judgment (the
strip) -in order to creété é'fall zone for the cell towér. bn January 25; 2000,
Joseph Farriciélli, as president of Look, tran_sferred the strip to Look, without
consideration, to create a fall zone for thé Nextel cell tower. Look entered into a
lease with Nextel for the cell tower and subsequently received rental payments.
In March, 2006, aﬁér this lawsuit was commenced, Jean Farricielli sold the rights:
to rent from the cell tower lease td a third par;ry for a present payment, which she
used to fund State Five.

During this period, State Five's financial condition wo.rséned. it was
unable ‘tb meet its financial needs during this peﬁod. Most of State Five's debt |
had nothing to do' with its core business. The business was thinly capitalized..
State Five was involved in several transactions that lacked legitimacy or a real
business purpose.

E

State Five and the Farriciellis' Personal Expenses

Despite State Five’s financial condition, it haé paid thousands of dollars of

the Farriciellis' personal expenses. These payments provided, directly or

indirectly, a benefit to poth Joseph and Jean Farricieli. The personal expenses
paid included the fo]lowing: Joseph Farricielii’s legal bills relating to the 2001
judgment and a state environmental criminal action against Joseph Farricielli

arising out of the same facts that gave rise to the 2001 judgment; the mbrtgagés _
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on the Farriciellis’ residences in Connecticut and Florida; taxes on the Branford

residence; fees and taxes on the Florida condominium; lawn care for the
'Farricie!iis’ resfdence in Branford; a club nﬁembership used by Jean and Joseph
Farricielli; paymehts fof a car for Joseph Farricielli; paymenfs on State Five credit
cards used by Jean and Joseph Farricielli; health instirance for the Farriciellis;
and taxes on the Harﬁden portion of the Tire Pond owned by Joseph Farriciél!i
and subject to the 2001 judgfnent.

State Five's financial records show that personal expéns’és were not
handled consistently from year to year. In some years, mor_téage payments were
classified as officer loans, thus, maintaiﬁing corporate formalities. In other years, .
the morfgage.payments were not so recorded and were deducted as
management fees, treated as interest payments, or only the tax escrow was
treated as an officer loan. Legal fees were charged to an officer loan account in
some years and as corporate expenses in other years. '

- The inconsistent_ treatment was evident in the payments of the Branford
and Florida (Sun Trust) mortgages.- State Five's records for 1999 indicaté that
payments were made to Sun Trust, but the F!_orida mortgage was not listed as a
liability on the books. The records for 2006 reflect that State Five made
payments on the Branford mortgage, the Florida condominium mortgage and
condominium fees; Payments on the Branford mortgage were treated aé
pérsonal expenses of the officer. The Florida condominium mortgage and fee
payments were not listed under officer Iéans. The two B‘ranford and Florida

mortgages were not listed as notes payable/loans from Iending institutions on

16 A26




State Five's books. Starting in 2001, mortgage payments were recorded as

corporate expenses, not as officer loans. In 2001, five payments were made

toward the Branford mortgage.

in 200_2. the first mortgage on the Branford residence, $236,906, was
shown on "Staté Five's b.ooks for the first ti‘me.. The evidence is unclear as tq
what happened to the proceeds. |

An opening balance in the 2002 géneral ledger reﬂecting‘ Jean Farricielli's
loan account shows that the company owed IJeén Farricielli $48,833.82. The
closing balance reflected that Jean Farricielli owed the 6ompany $105,069.53.
Even though Jean Férricielli owed, State Five over $100,000 atthe ehd of 2002,
there was no prqmissory note. The F leet_note was supposedly sécured by
equipment, but the records do not show where the equipment was or whether it

was sold. The 2002 general ledger reflects that State Five paid Joseph

Farricielli's legal expenses, but these payments were not reflected ini either Jean
or Joseph Farricielli’s loan account. They were treated as corporate expenses. |
The evidence was unclear as to. whether the legal fees were actually repaid.

The 2003 financial records reflect that while Jean Farricielli owed the
company substantial funds, she wasrrecbeiving large sums from the company
ch.aracterized as loan repayment. Money was withdrawn from State Five's
checking account and paid to Jean Farricielli. These payments were
characterized aé loan repaymént when they actually increased the loan from the
company to Jean Farricielli. The 2003 general ledger reflects that State Five

paid Joseph Farricielli’'s legal bills to the Santos & Seeley Law Firm, but these
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payments were not reflected in Joseph or Jean Farriciell's loan accounts. These

payments were treated as corporaté expenses,“ There was no specific evidence
that these legal fees were repaid.

The records for 2004 reflect mortgage payments on the Branford and
Florida properties, but the tra'nsactiohs were not reflected on the loan accounts of
| Jean or Jéseph Farriciell. For 2004, the payment of legal fees was not reflected
in any loan account. In May, 2004, State Five purchased a GMC pickup truck
with a down paymenf on the Far-riciellis’. Discover card. The 2004 records reflect
that the company owed Josephine Farricielli $27,000. The‘2005 records reflect
that State Five made property tax payments for the Tire Pond property.

Overall, the financial records feﬂect that State Five rén a great deal of
t_rarisactio.ns in and out of loan éccounts witﬁ little documentation to explain the
transactions. Prior to 2001, there was no loan account for Jean Farricielli on the
" books. The books reflect a significant number of loans to and from Jean and |

Joseph Farricielli during the period in question. The records indicate that many

of these transactions lacked a legitimate business purpose.

Since the transfer back of the State Five stock from LaVelle to Recycling
Enterprises in August, 2004, many of these transactions have continued,
including: Joseph Farricielli arid Jean Farricielli have continued to write checks
on State Five'slbank account; State Five has coﬁtinued to pay the personal |
expenses of steph.FarricieHi and Jean Farricielli, including the Florida
condominium fees and lease paymehts for Joseph Farricielli’s vehicle; State Five

has continued to pay the taxes on Parcel B and the debt of Hamden Sand; Jean
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Farricielli has continued to transfer funds to the company to-pay for the aforesaid

items; and Joseph Farrfcie!lf has continued to hold himself out as an agent of
State Five. In addition, Joseph Farr:cnelll and Jean Famcrelh have caused State
Ffve to make payments to one or more of the foilowmg Jcseph Farricielli
himself;'Jeen Farricielli's brother; Joseph Farri_cieH‘i’s mother; QRED:; and a
lawyer doing work in: connectien with de'vel-oping Parcel B,'a parcel owned by
Joseph Fsrricieﬂi. While State Five has paid thoussnds of dollars towards
Joseph Farricielli's personal expenses during this period, State F:ve has not paid
any of the 2001 judgment for which he is personally responSIbie '

F

Jean Farricielli and State Five

As discussedrabov‘e, the e\}idence shows that Jean Farricielfi continued to
play a major role in State Five after ownership was transferred to LaVelle. Under
the sales agreement, State Five was reqﬁired to pay thousands of dollars of debt
that Jean‘ Farricielli had personally guaranteed. She borrowed on personal
assets that she and her husband owned to fund the company. Jean Farricielli
was frequently in the office and often dealt with State Five tenants. She wrote
numerous checks on State Five's checking account during LaVeIie s involvement
wn_‘h the company. She did not talk to LaVelle about every check shé signed for
' State Five and did not get specific authority for each check. During this period,

" State Five opened a credit line with Citizens Bank on which only Jean Farricielli
had authority to draw. The line of credit established with Citizens Bank was

secured by Jean Farricielli's certificates of deposit, part of her inheritance from
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her parents, Jean Farricielli allowed Joseph Farricielli to write checks on State

Five's checking account, even though he no lohger had the authority to do so.
G

Joseph Farricielli and Statg Five

The eﬁidence also demoﬁstrates that Joseph Farricielli continued to play a
.maj'or role in State Five. Joseph Férri_cielli negotiated the transfer agreement
with LaVelle; eveh_though he was not an officer of Look or Reéyciing Enterprises.
He mafntained office space at Staté Five and on c;ccaéioh received wages from
State Five during this period. He continued to deal with State Five's tenants.
State Five paid many of his personal expenses, including thousands of dollars in
legal fees. |

Joseph Farricielli remained directly involved in the company’s financial
matters. .He gave instructions to State Five's accountant and bookkeeper about
how transactions shouid be characterized. For example, Joseph Faricielli wrote
a memorandum to DeCép’rio dated Aprii 19, 2002, notifying DeCaprio that
LaVelle had become owner of Look and that thé tax returns should reflect
LaVelle as president, secretary, director and sole stockholder. He instructed the
bookkeeper to record. the checks he wrote on State Five's account as a loan frorﬁ
Jean Farricielli. On or about June 12, 2002, Joséph Farricielli sent a
memorandumto DeCaprio asking Look to pay a debt for which he was
personally responsibie. There was also a memorandum between Joseph

Farricielli and DeCaprio indicating how State Five's line of credit was distributed.
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- Joseph Farricielli also sent letters to Hudson United Bank regarding debt for

which State Five was liable and/or paying.

During LaVelle's tenure, Joseph Farricielli wrote checks on_Sfafe Five's
-account without LaVelle's authorization. Joseph Farricielli also wrote personal
cheéks to State Five. Joseph Farricielli continued to be listed as an oblfgor on
the Branford ﬁtortgage. Hudsop Unitéd Bank i_ssued invoices on the Branford
Mortgage listing both Joseph and Jean Farricielli as obligors. In May of 2004,

Joseph Farricielli wrote a check on the couple's Discover Card for a down
paymenton a GMC pickup truck for State Five.

On June 11, 2003, Joseph Farricielli entered into a license agreement with
State Five to allow Modern Materials to become a tenant. Stafe Five then -
entered into an assignment of license agreement with Modern Materials. The
rent Modern Materials is paying to State Five covers the part of Parcel B subject
to the license.

_Jos.eph_ Farricielli testified that he had over one million dollars in debt
relating to Hamdén Stone, which was not assumed by Look and not guar‘anteed
by Jean Féfricielli. "Most of the débt was Hetd by CIT, GE Cfedit and Mack Truck
and was for heavy equipment used for the business.- There was no evidencé that
Joseph Farricielli was ever sued 6n the CIT, GE Credit and Mack Truck debt.
Moreover, in July, 2004, Joseph Farricielli completed_a.HUdson United Ba'ﬁk

_ ﬁeréonal ﬁnaﬁqi_al-étatement and did not list any liabilities to CIT, GE or Mack

Truck. The accountant's work papers indicated that on about June 12, 2002,
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Joseph Farricielli asked Look to make payments on debt for which he was

personally responsible.

--After State Five was transferred back to Recycling Enterpriséé, Joseph
Farricié!li continued to write checks on State Five's checking account. Jéseph
Farricielli's mother, Josephine Far'ricielli,_ loaned money to Jean Farricielli_-for
State Five. _bn March 3, 2005, Joseph Farricielli wrote a check for $30,000 to
pay back his mother. The check was made out to “J. Farriciell.” According to

Joseph Farricielli, his mother told him to keep the money, .and he subsequently

endorsed and cashed the check.

The court will provide additional facts, as needed, which are proved by a

fair preponderance of the evidence.

i -
DISCUSSION
A

Vell Piercing Law

“Pursuant to Cohnecticut caselaw .. .a coﬁrt may properly disregard é
corporaté éntity if the elements of either the inétr,umentality rule or identity rule
are‘sati;sﬁed.'; (Citations omiﬂeﬁ.) Lifchfield Ass'et Management Corp. v. Howsll,
70 Conn. App. 133, 148 n.11, 799 A.2d '.298, cert. denied, 261 Conn. 911, 806

A.2d 49 (2002). Ti{e 'fair preponderance of the evidence standard applies to velil

piercing cases. Ild., 148 n.12.

Our Supreme Court discussed the concept of piercing the corporate veil

-in the seminal case of Zafét v. Olson, 164 Conn. 563, 6§73, 227 A.2d 552 (1967).
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in Zaist, the question before the court was the plaintiffs’ right to look beyond the

corporate entity with which they dealt, The East Haven Homes, Inc. (E Co.) tothe
controlling. officer and étockhold'er, Martin Olson (O) and a related gorpoi'ation,
Maﬁin Olson, Inc. (O Co.) for a recovery of the amount'due‘ them. Id. The couit
concluded that O and O Co. weré liable under an “alter ego” theor.y,- concluding
that the corporate stfucture of the defendant in that case could properly have |
been disregarded under the instrumentality or idenﬁty rufe. Id., 578. in reaching
this conclusion, the Supreme Court expounded on the law éf corporate veil
piercing. “Courts will disregard the fiction of separate legal entity_whén'a
corporation is a mere instrumenfality on; agent of another corporation or individual
owning all or most of its stock. . . .'Under such circumstances ihe'general rule,
which récognizes the individuality of cérporate entities and the independent
character of each in respect :to their corporate transactions, and the obligations
incurred by each in the-coursé of such transactions, will be disregarded, where,
as here, the interests of justice and righteous dealing so derﬁand. ... The
circumstance that control is exercised merely through dominatin'g stock
ownership, of course, is not enough. . . . Theré must be such domination of
finances, policies and practices that the controlled corporation has, so to speak,
no separate mind, will or existence of its own and is but a business conduit for its
principal . . L (Citgtio_,ns omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Id., 573-74.
In Zaist v.’ Ofson, supra, 154 Conn. 563, O Co. owned none of the stock
of ECo., butO held a dominating stock interest in both E Co. and O Co. and was

president, treasurer and a director of both corporations. The court held that “it is




not the fact that [the defendant] held these positions which is controlling but

rather the manner in which he"u_tilfzed them. The esséntiat purposes of the

corporate structure, including stockholder immunity, must and will be protected

when-the corporation functions as an entity in the normal manner contempll'ated

énd permitted by law. When it functions in this manner, there is nothing insidious

in stockholder control, interlocking directorates or idéntity of officers. When,
- however, the corporation is so manipulated by an individual or another corporate
. entity as to beco'me_a mere puppet or tool for the manipulator, justice may
require the courts to disregard the corporate fiction and impose Iiébility on the
real actor . ..." (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) id., §74-
e , . o

The Supreme Cqurt then set forth the instrumentality and identity rules

for evaluating corporate veil piercfng cases. ‘The instrumentality ru.!e rquires, in
any case but an expresé agency, proof of three elements: (1) Control, not mere
majority or compléte stock control, but complete domination, not only of finances
but of policy and busineés practice in respect to the transaction attacked so that
the corporate entity as to this transaction had at the time no separate mind, will
or existence of its own; (2) _fhat such control must have_ been us_ed by the
defendant to commit fraud or wrong, to perpetrate the violation of a statutory or
other positive feggl duty, or a dishonest or unjust act in contravehtion of the
plaintiff's legal rig(hts;_ and (3) that the aforesaid control and breach of duty must

proximately cause the injlry or unjust ioss complained of . . . .” Zaist v. Olson,

supra, 154 Conn. 675-76.
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.. The

R “Complementing the instrumentality rule is the identity rule. .
proposition has been‘othenrvis.e expressed as fo[llows: If plaintiff can show that
there was such a unity of interést and ownership that the independence of the
corporationé ha-d- in- effect ceas’edror héd névrerr beguﬁ, én a;iherence to the:
ﬂciidn of separate identity would ser\}e only to defeatjuétice and equity by
pérmiﬁing‘the economic entity to .eshcape liability arising out of an operation
conducted by one corporation for the beneﬁt of the whole enterpﬁse .... Zaist
v, Olson, supra, 154 Conn. 575- 76 In KLM Industries, Inc. v. Tylutki, 75 Conn.
App. 27, 815 A.2d 688, cert. denled 263 Conn. 916, 821 A.2d 770 (2003}, cltlng
Zaist, the Appglfate Court noted: “Although the identity rule primarily applies to
- prevent ihjusticé wheré two corpo_rati‘onslare controlled as one enterprise . . . it
has been appiied to hold én individual Iiable fora 'cbrporate obligation.”

(Citations omitted.) KLM lridustﬁ‘es, Inc. v. Tylutki, supra, 75 Conn. App. 33 n.3.
ih finding for the plé_intiffs and piercing the corporate vell, th_e court in Zaist
considered the foIIoWing factors: (1) O caused the creatibn of both companies;
(2) after incorporation, O had cémﬁleteiy domiﬁated and contro!led_not only them
but his bther corporate creationS' (3) all shared the same 'éfﬁce' (4) all the work
performed by the plamtlffs went into property whlch after being juggled about,
came to rest in O or O Co.; (5) there was a lack of formal corporate act|on by the
directors or stockholders of the corporations; (6) E. Co. had no sufficient funds of
its own and acquiré'd :no funds for the work on its own initiative; (7) E Co. ﬁad no
pfobn‘etary interest in the propérty on which the work was déne and apbarent]y
gained nothing ffom whatever part it played in the transaction; and (8) E Co. was
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used by O for the benefit of O and O Co, Zaist V. 'Olson, supfa, 154 Conn. 576-

77.
The Supreme Court cautioned: 'We do not wish to be understood fo

countenance, by anything we have said here, the fmposmon of the legitimate
indebtedness of a corporation upon a majonty stockholder in derogatton of his
legal immunity merely because of the corporate control inherent in his stock
lOWne!'Shlp " Zaistv. Olson supra 1 54 Conn. 577-78.
O
Veil Piercing Applicable

A review of the pertment caselaw reveals a number of d:fferent factual
scenarios where veil plercmg was found applicable. In Saphfrv Neustadt, 177
Conn. 191, 209- 12 413 A.2d 843 (1979) the Supreme Court found no error in
the referee’s conctusnon that the defendant Candlewood Lake Estates Serwoe
Corporatlon (C Co)was a oorporatlon in name only and that it operated as the
mstrumentahty of the defendant Egon Neustadt (N) subject fo hIS sole control
and in the rmpos;tfon of habthty on both C Co and N. In that case, the plaintiff
- home owners sought damages and equitable relief from the defendant individual
(N) and company (C Co) relating to the failure to properly construct and maintain
roads in a development Id., 194-96. The oourt concluded that N coutd properly

have been helzd liable, and the corporate structure of C Co. dlsregarded under

either the lnstrumentatlty or identity rule, Id., 210. “The record before us
reasonabty supports a conclusxon that [C Co.Jwas a corporation in name only -

and that it was operated as the mstrumentality or alter ego of_[N], subjectto the
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sole control of [N]; as such, [C Co.]'s activity was not indicative of corporate

’ activity, but was symptomatic of the business operations of an individual." 1d,,

210-11.

In finding support for piercing the corporate veil, the court considered the
following factors: (1) N was the sole shareholder of C Co.; (2) N was the
president of C Co.; (3) N held the 6nly propr‘ietary inferest in C Co.; (4) no
mihutes were kept of the meetings of C Co.’s directors; (5) no records existed of
annual elections of C. Co.; (6) other officers of C. Co. existed solely to
accommodate N; (7) N solely directed C. Co.’s affairs; (8) only N could deal with
corporate funds; and (9) C Co, .had never filed a business tax return. Id., 2_1 1.

The Supreme Court held: “In view of those facts the court could

-reasonably conclude that [N] completely dominated the corporation to the point

where [C Co.] had no separate existence, and that such control was used for the
purpose of diverting [N]'s ‘positive legal duty’ . . . [and] there ex.isted a unity of
interest and ownership between [C Co.j and [N] such that the purpoées of justice
would be served by disregarding the shield of [C Co.]'s corporate structure.” Id.
-The Suprgme éou& again cautioned: “We do not wish to be understood to
countenance, by anything we havé said here, the imposition of the legitimate
inde.btedness of a corporation upon a majority stockholder in derogation of his
legal immunity mer‘,ely ?ecause of the corporate control inherent in‘ his stock
ownership.. To do éo would be fo act in opposition to the public policy of this state

as expressed in legislation concerning the formulation and regulation of

corporations.” 1d., 212,
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. In Toshiba America Medical Systems, Inc. v. Mobile Medical Systems,

Ino., 53 Conn. App. 484, 730 A.2d 1219, cert, denied, 248 Conn. 930, 733 A.2d
851 (1999), thel Appellate Court affirmed the trial court's piercing of the corporate
veil. There, the plaintiff brou_ght a breach of contract action agalnst a corporation
and its sole stockholder. Id., 486-87. The trial court had‘oonolu‘ded from the
intermingling of funds and monetary exchanges 'betweeo the corporation and the
sole stockholder that the company was the alter ego of the stockholder. Id., 488.
The court found sufficient evidence to pierce the oorporate veil under both the
instrumentality rule and the identity rule. 1d., 489.

The court considered the following facts in applying _the iostrumentality
rule: (1) the stockholder had leceived lease payments from third parties for |
products manufactured by the company from equipment purchased from the
plaintiff; (2) the stockholder transferred over a millions dollars in lease payments
from the defendajnt company to another company owned by the stockholder; (3)
after its incorporation, the defendant corporation failed to hold any corporate
meetings to approve the transfers, file any tax reiurn.s, or file any corporaltion |
documentation with the seoretary of state; and (4) tho defendant corporation had
no employees. Id., 490. '

In rejecting the defendants' argument thot “the trial coort improperly
pierced the cog;porate veil because it did not find that the defendants’ breaches of
contracts rose to the level of deceptive, unethical or immoral acts,” the Appellate
Court helcl that “[t]he lnstrumentalitylrule merely requires the_ trial court to find that
the defendants committed an unjust act in contravenllon of the plaintiff's legal
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.. When the statutory privilege of doing business in the corporate form is

Tights. .

employed as a cloak for the evasion of obligations, as a mask behind which to do
injustice, or invoked to subvert equity, the separéte personality of the corporation
will be disreoarded." (Citations omittéd; internat quotation marks omitted.) Id.,
49162, |

In applying the tdentity rule, the court considered the followino facts: (1)
defendant company operated from the same premises of the other compény
owned by the shareholder; (2) the defendant cornpany had no employees and no
equlpment or property other that an automoblle for the stockholder's use; (3) the
stockholder used the defendant corporatlon s funds to pay his federal personal

income tax and permltted hIS son to write checks on the corporate account and
(4) the defendant corporatton eXIsted as a shell that permltted the stockholder to
 make unsupported withdrawals and payments to the other corporation owned by
the stockholder. Id.; 490-91,
~ In rejecting the defendants’ claim that “that the trial court improporly

i_mposed liability on him .as; the sole shareholder on the' basis of the payments
mode by [the defendant corpo_ration] to [the.'other corporatio-n]; a corporation that
is not a party to this lawsuit," the Appe!lcte Court held that “[t]he identity rule . .

applies to the situation . . . where the facts demonstrate that [the stockholder]

was the common owner and officer of both [corpotations] and there was a failure
to observe corporét_e formalities between the two entities.” Id., 482. The coutt

further disagreed that the other corporation *had to be a party to thé present
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litigation in order to pierce [the defendant oorporation’s] corporate veil to impose
| liability on the [stockholder. I id,493.

“In Davenporf V. Qumn 53 Conn. App 282,730 A.2d 1184 (1999) the
Appel!ate Court found that the trial court had properly allowed the plaintiff to
prerce the corporate veil. There, the plaintiff sought to satisfy a default judgment,
claiming that the defendant sole shareholder/officer/director was the alter ego of
the defendant corporation. The defendant individual was also the sole
shareholder/off‘ cer/director of another oompany as well as the owner of a sole
proprretorshrp ld 295 The trial court employed both the rnstrumentahty and

identity rules to determine that the plaintiff could successfully pierce the

corporate veil. Id., 301.
The Appellate Court determrned that all three prongs of the instrumentality

rule were satisfied. Id., 302-303. As to the fi rst prong, control, the following facts
were consrdered (1) the defendant individual maintained exclusive control over
both companles; (2) he allowed and authorized one corporation to pay for the
debts of another; (3) he controlled ail ﬁnanciaf transactions; (4) in essence, there
was no separate aocount for each corporation; (5) if one corporation needed
funds, he authorized a transfer of funds from either the other corporation or his
sole proprletorshlp, and (6) he was fully lnvolved in eaoh of the business
transactions of each of hrs entltres id., 302.

The second prong, breach, was met by the following facts: (1) the
defendant individual transferred assets out of the defendant corporation, after the

plaintiff had filed his original complaint; (2) the defendant corporation had notice
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of the lawsuit; (3) he continued‘ his practice of commingling funds and removing
assets out of the corporate defendant's account to pay the other corporation's
expenses and his salary, even after the bar had ceased operations and (4) the
defendant corporation’s account balance was less than 1 percent of the Judgment

against it. Id., 302.

Finally, as to the third prong, proximate cause, the following facts were
dispositive: (1) the plaintiff attempted a property executron on the defendant
corporation, but was unsuccessful; and (2) if the defendant corporation had
sufficient funds to satisfy the judgment, the plaintiff would not have had to bring
the action. Id., 302-303. - |

The Appellate Court determined that the identity rule was also satisﬁed
based on the following facts: (1) the evidence showed a complete lack of
corporate formality, which was approved by the defendant individuai; (2) the
defendant corporation paid the defendant individual's personai bills and the other
corporation’s bill; and (3) when the defendant corporation ceased doing
business, it never di‘ssolved, and it paid the individual defendant thdusands of
dollars in income. Id., 303. | |

In Lifchfield Asset Management Corp. v. Howell, supra, 70 Conn. App.
149-52, the Appellate Court considered the doctrine of reverse piercing of the
corporate veil. There, in 1993, the plaintiff had'entered into an agreement with
Mary Ann Howell (I-'i). operat_ing through the now defunct corporation, Mary Ann
Howell Interiors, Inc. (I Co.). Id., 135. The plaintiff filed suit in Texas against H

and | Co. and was awarded a default judgment in July, 1996 (T exas Judgrnent).
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Id. In December, 1986, the plaintiff brought an action in Connecticut to enforce

the Texas—Judg.)mént. id. The piaiﬁtiff_ obtained a judgment in Connecticut inits
~favor in February, 1997, which was afﬁmed-on-appeal. Id. -Wﬁile these actions
were pending, H and her farﬁily mémbers formed two new limited liability |
companies, Mary Ann Howell Interiors and Architectural Design, LLC (D Co.),
and Antiquities Aséociates, LLC (A Co.). Id., 135-36. In May, 1996, H
bontrib,ut‘ed nearly $150,000, which she bbrrowed againét her life insurance
policies, for a 97 percent ownership interest in D Co. Id., 136.' Her hushand and
two daughters each contributed $1'0 in exchange for a 1 percent ownership
interest. Id. In November, 1997, D Co. contributed jusf over $100,000 fdr a9
bercent interést in A Co., and H contributed $10 for the reméinfng 1 percent. Id.
On May 11, 1998, the pléintiff 6ommenced a veil piercing and civil conspiracy
aét_ion against H, her husband, D Co. and A Co. Id. H was general manager of
both D Co. and A Co. Id., 137. D'Co. and A Co. did not have any employees
and operated out of a garage at the H's personal residence. id. No rent was
paid to H's husband who was owner of the residence. Id. H controlled D Co.
and A Co Id. H's family members did not participate in any significant way in
the companies’ operations. Id.

The Appellate Court concluded that the assets of the corporate entity were
available td pay pe(son_a!_debts of the owner. Lifchfield Asset Manégement Corp.
v. Howell, supra, ;70 Conn. App. 158. In reaching this conclusion, the court

conSIdered that “[a] corporat;on is a separate fegal entity, separate and apart

from its stockholders. . . . Itis an elementary principle of corporate law thata
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corporation and its stockholders are separate entities and that . . . corporate

property is vested in the corporation and not in the owner of the corporate stock. .

.. That principle also is applicable to limited liability companies-and their . -

members. . . . The assets of a. corporation or limited liability company, therefore,
typicéliy are not avallable fo creditors seeking to recover amounts oWed bya
stockholdér or member of that corporation or limited liability company.
Nonetheless, [clourts will . . ..disregard the fiction of a separate legal entity to
pierce the shield of immunity afforded by the corporate structure in & situation in

which the corporate entity has been so controlled and dominated that justice
requires liability to be imposed . . . . (Citations omiﬁed; internal quotation marks
omitted.) Id., 147.

The Appellato Court explained: “In the usual vell piercing case, a court is
asked to disregard a corporate entity so as to make available the personal assets
of its owners to satisfy a liobility of the entity. In this case, an instance of what is
known as ‘reverse piercing,’ the plaintiff argues the opposite, that the assets of
toe corporate entities should be made available to pay the personal debts of an
owner. . . . Many of the reverse p'ierce' oasos ... involve siroilar circumstances,
that is, a creditor of an individual debtor is seeking to reach the assets of an
entity controlled by that debtor. . .. We discemn from these cases a growi_hg
recognition of the doctrine of reverse piercing of the corporate veil. . . . A guiding
concept behind bcith ctandard and reverse vell p-iercing cases is the need for the
court to avoid an over-rfigid preoccupation with questions of stru'cturel ...and

apply the preexisting and overarching principle that fiability is imposed to reach
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an equitable result, . . ; We consider this directive fo be éénsib!e and therefore

recognize that under the appropriate circumstances, i.e., when the elements of
the identity or instrumentality rule have been established, a reverse pierce is a
'vfable remedy that a court may employ \-/vhen neceséa’ry fo échieve an equitable
result and when unfair prejudice will not result. Id., 149-51,

The Appellate Court next reviewed tHe trial court’s application of the
instrumentality ru!'e’s three elements. Id., 152-56. in evaluating the first element,
control, the following factors were considered: “(1) the abéenceiof corporate
formalities; (2) inadequate capitalization; (3) whether funds are put in and taken
out of the corporation for personal rather than corporate purposes; (4) -
overlapping ownership, ofﬁcers, directors, personnel; '(5)-cdmmon office space,

- address, phones; (6) the amount of business disé:retion' by the alleg.edl).f
| dominated corporation; (7) whethertheAcorporations dealt with each other at
arm's length; (8) whéther the corporations are tr_eéte'd as independent proﬁt
cente.rs; (9) payment or guarantee of debts of the dominated corporation; and
(_10) whether the corporation in question had property that was used by other.of
the corporations as if it were ifs own.” Id., 152-53. |

The Appellate Court found that there was :evidenc'é of dominance and
control based on the following facts: third factor — use of company funds to pay

personal expéns,es! purchase of gifts for family members, interest free loans to

3

family members, and payoff of a loan of a family member; fourth factor —
overlapping ownership, officers, directors and personnel; fifth factor — operation

out of the same office space; seventh factor — lack of arm's length dealings

. "
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between companiés; eighth -factor - failure to treat the company as an
indepéndent profit center; and ninth factor — use of-property by other of the
cdfporsfions as If it were their own. d., 153, |

' The court next found evidence of use of contrel and dominance to
perpetrate awrong, based on the following fssts: (1) use of personal funds; (2)'

listing of relatives as officers, directors or members who had no involvement in

‘the company, other than to sign the paperwork for its formation, and who did not

make any decisions necessary to.run the business and did not make any
suggestions that things be done any_different!y; (3) the individual in quesﬁon was
the oﬁly party with signatory powers on the company’s bank a_ccount; (4) causing
an éxisting company to fund the start-up of a new company after an out of state
was obtained and just before that judgment was recognized by the Connecticut
court; (5) continued use of transferred funds as if they were her own; and (6)

payment of personal expenses directly from company-funds, instead of payment

JE U

of a salary or providing regular cash distributions, thereby depriving the plaintiff of

any means of collecting its judgment. Id., 154-55.

Finally, in finding that the last element of the 'instrumenta[ity rule,
proximate cause, was satisfied, the following facts were considersdr: (1) the -
individual dsfendant knew that the plaintiff was pursuing a c!airﬁ against her, and
she chose not to defend against that claim; and (2) she transferred personal

assets to the company that prevented the p!a!nttff from securing collection of the

judgment it eventually obtained. Id., 156.
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" The Appellate Court next reviewed the trial court's applicéﬁon §f the

identity rule. After stating the identity rule, the court noted that “[tJhe identity rule
' primarily applieé to prevgnt injustice in the situation where two corporate entities
are, in reality, cbntrbll;ed as one enterprise because of the existence of common
owners, ofﬁders, directors or shareholders and because of t_hg lack of
observance of corpprate formalitieé between the two entities; ... There must be
such dominatién of finances, policies and p?actices that the controlled -
corporation has, so fo speak, no separate mind, will or existence of its own and is
but a business conduit for its principal.” (Citations omitted; infernal quotation
- marks omifted.) Id., 156

In applying the identity rule, the court found that there was unity of interest
based on the following factors: (1) the individual’s large ownership interests in
both corhpanies; (2) "how she used her complete cpntrol of each company to
manage their assets as if they we.r'e her own”; (3) the use of “company.funds -
: éxtensively to pay personal expenses, to make casual loans to family members
and fo buy gifts for family members”; (4) and that the fndividual “conducted the
operations of the companies without any input from the other members”; (5) the
lack of adherence to any corporate formalities other than some segregation of
expenses for tax purposes; (6) the use of “the'same checking account and credit
cards for both personal and business purposes”; (7) the lack of reimbursements;
(8) the fact that “régdlar distributions were not made to members”; (9) the lack of
meeti‘ngs held; (10) the fact that “neither company feased office space, but

operated out of the same area of the [individuéi’s] home" (11) the treatment of
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- one company as an adjunct of the other company, not as an independent entity

wifh ifs own dis_tinct interests; and (12) the fact that the individual “conducted the

business of the two companies.no differently from the way she conducted her

‘personal affairs.” Id., 157-58.

The Appellate Court recognazed “that the separate eXIstence ofa
corporate entlty for liability purposes represents a public policy choice, as
expressed in Connecticut's legislation governing the formulation and regulation of
corporations and limited kability companies, and that the corporate or limited
liability form should not be disregarded lightiy.” (Citations omitted; internal -
quotatlon marks omitted.} id., 158. The court further noted “that of the many
factors underlying a fi ndlng that the mstrumentallty or identity rule has been
satisfied, no one f_actor or group of factors is necessarily dispositive of the inquiry.
However,. [w]hen the statutory privilege of doing business in the corporete [or
limited liability company] form is employed as a cloak for the evas%on of
obligations, as a mask behind which to de injustice, or invoked to subvert equity,
the ssparate personality of the corporation [or limited liability company] will be
disregarded.” (Citations omitted; internal duotation marks omitted.) Id., 158.

In Cadle Co. v. ‘Zubretsky, Superior Court, judicial district of Hartford,
Docket No. CV 04 0832477 (January 30, 2008, Hale, J.T.R.) (44 Conn. L. Rpftr.
843), the plaintiff sought to reverse pierce the corporate veil and brpught claims
of fraudulent transfer end unjust enrichment. Pursuant to an assignment from
Fleet Bank, the plaintiff was a creditor of John Zubretsky (John Z) basedona
179_93 judgment. ‘Id., 844. The plaintiff maiptsined that defendants John Z and his '
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wife Ann Zubretsky (Ann) engaged in a series of transactions and business
decisions after the judgment entered involving the defendant Access America

{Access) designed and implemented to keep John Z's creditors including the

plaintiff, from collecting theirjudgments: id.

The court, citing Litchfield Asset Manégément Corp. v. Howel, supra, 70
Conn. App. 149-52, reviewed the docfrine of reverse pie-rcing. of the corporéte
veil. “In thé usual case of pi.ercing the corporate veil a plaintiff seeks the assets
of stock holders to satisfy a judgment against the corporation. in a casé of
reverse piercing (;)f the corporate veil the plaintiff seeks the assets ofa -
corporation to satisfy the liability of the owner or insider. . . . Although reverse veil‘
piercing has not béén addressed with any frequéncy by Connecticut Appellate
Courts, the Appellate Court in Litchfield m'ade'it clear that reverse vell piercingris
common in numerous other jurisdictions where as in the matter before the bourt,
a creditor of an individual debtor [is] seéking to‘reach the assets of a.n entity
controlled by that debtor.” (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.)
Cadlle Co. v. Zubretsky, supra, 44 Conn. L. Rptr, 844, The court noted that “{iJn
both standard and reverse veil piercing a court should avdid an over rigid
| preoccupation with questions of structure . . . and apply the preexisting and

. overreaching principle that liability is imposed to reach an equitable result.”

(Internal quotation marks omitted.) Id.

' Tﬁe court{ reviewed the instrumentality and identity rules. “In examining
the application of each of these rules, instrumentality and identity, the court is

mindful that both involve fact based determinations; that the ultimate issue of
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whether corporate veil should be pierced presents a question of fact.” Id., 845.

-The court in Litchfield stated that of the many factors underlining a finding that '

the instrumentality or identity rule has been satisfied, no one factor or group of

factors is. dispositive of the inquiry. id., 846.

In Cadle Cd., the defendants, citing KLM Industﬁes, inc. v. Tyfutki, supra‘,
75 Conn. App. 27, argued against reverse plercing baéed on the-following facts:
"that John was not an owner or shareholder of the corporation in question,
although he was president; that Anh claimed to be the sole owner of the
corporation and had nothing to do with the debt to Fleét which Cadle now owns
and which debt was unrelated to the corporatipn; that the books of the
corporation are kept separately from their personal books; that there was no
massive cash flow from one corporatidn to ancther by John; that the corporation
in Tviutki and in this case were _created prior to the debt in each case; and that
the Tylutki court found it significant fhat the Voloshins, the husband and wife who
opefated the corporation in that case, maintained t.he separate corporate
existence by filing corporate tax returns, and by filing their required reports with
the Sécretéry of the State's ofﬁce." Cadle Co. v. Zubretsky, supra, 44 Conn. L.
Rptr. 846. - ‘

fhe court found that “ltlhe Tylutki case is clearly distinguishable by the
fact that the doctrine of piercing the corporate veil and also reverse piercing of
the corporate veil IS z;m equitable doctrine. The argument that the debt was
incurred subsequent to the-formation of the corporation and that the corporation

had existed for a substantial period of time but before and since the debt is of no
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consequence whatsoever. The fact remains that a legitimate debt authorized by
the Superior Court of the State of Coqnecﬁcut remains’ unpai.d by a berson who -
~ has been proven capable of earnihg substantially more than the amounf of the
debt by divesting himself of any earnings of assets, not by the paymént of other
debts, but by refusing fo accept éalary or commissions and allowing them to be
taken by the corporation yét managing to live well supposedly by the largesse of
his wife and/or the corporation.” Id. |

The court in Cadle Co., found that “liihe eséence of this case is that the
plaintiff and his wife acted jointly and in éoncert to bring about the result of
protebting him from the payment gf his-debts. For all practical purposes he was
as mucﬁ an owner of the cbrporation as his wife. He was an owner in essence.
He is an equitable owner of the corpo'ration. To any member of the pub_]ic dealing
with the corporation he was the owner. For all practical purposés he and his Wife
were the joint owners of the ’cérﬁoration. e

"This court finds tﬁat there is more than sufficient evidence of ,cofn_plete
domination of the corporation’s finances, policy and business practice so that the
corporate entity as to this case had no séparate mind, will or existence of its own
and that this situation ekisted because of the joint actions and understanding of
the Zubretskys'acting in concert. Note, the Zubretskys' two homes, one in
Wethersfield and one at the Gonnecticut shore, were owned in Ann’s name, In
the opinion of thls court the only reasonab!e explanation for the [corporatlon 5]
failure to pay John Z., that John Z. had no bank account, that he had no real

estate, no income is that it was part of an overall scheme to put essentially every
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dollar of John Z.'s current and future asséts and income out of the reach of his
| éreditors. Note, John Z. was the face’ of the corporétion; Rather than pay John
| Z. duly earned commissions and/or a salary for his contnbut:ons to the overall
runnlng of the rea] estate operatlon the Zubretskys jomtly decided to have the
corporataon retain these commissions, thus keeping yet more of John Z.' S
earnlngs out of the reach of creditors. ‘Having reta!ned John Z.'s commissions
—‘ within the corporahon the Zubretskys applied these funds towards Ann Z’
salary, Jphn Z.'s perks and benef” ts, John Z's loans, John Z.’s allowance and the
assumption of the Zubretskys personal travel, méals, entertainment and |
hous.eh.old .items charged to the credit card accounts yet pajd entirely by the
cfofporation, In this way the Zubretskys Werg able to hold John Z's c;"editors at
bay ‘yet maintain é com_fo.rtable lifestyie of tWo honﬁes inc!ydfng a home at the
Connec':ticut'shore, luxdry‘cars,. a boat, frequent restaurant méals and regula_r.
expéhsive f'amlily vacations. There is lnc; documentation of the loans and no
énterest paid on same. Wi-th respect of the second element of the instrumentality .
rute it is the opinion of this court that fhe contrbl and domination of the
corporation has been used by the defendanté fo comrﬁit wrohg Their actions
were unjust and in contraventron of the plaintiff's Iegal nght to collect its debt. It is
the opinion of the court that the aforesaid control and breach of duty has
ultimately caused the unjust loss complalned of. Thus it s the opinion of this
court that the plaii'ﬁif;c has proven each of the three eh_aments of the

instru'mentaiity rule and that it also qualifies under the identity rule and has

qualified for a reverse piercing of the corporate veil.
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“"All the evidenoe at triaf; leads to the conclusion that the Zubretskys jointly
manipulated the coArporation to keep John Z.'s income and assets out of the

hands of his credltors including plamhff and into their own pockets via the

‘corporation.” Id.
In Miler v. Guimaraes, 78 Conn. App. 760, 772, 829 A.2d 422 (2003), the

trial court had Ppierced the corporate vell There the defendant Peter Gwmaraes
had treated hrs two compames Gunmaraes Development Inc., and Guimaraes
Construction Inc., as |f they were the same entrty Guimaraes Constructaon Inc.,
did not have a bank account and asa result Gunmaraes as rts preSIdent
deposited the pialntlffs check lnto the account of Gurmaraes Development, Inc.
Gu:maraes DeveIOpment Inc., had no assets in its name. Gu1maraes had
exercrsed complete domination over the pollcy and business of Gurmaraes
Construction, nc. Id. Based on the appellate record, the Appeliate Court held
that the trial court's basis for it.s“conclusion was not clearly erroneous and
affirmed the trial 'court’.s deterrnination to 'pierce thé corporate veil. id.

In Connecticut Light & Power Co. v. Westview Carifon Group, LLC, 108
Conn. App. 633, 637, 950 A.2d 522 (2008), the trial court invoked the
instrurnenta!ity rule to pier'oe- the'corporate vell There, the court found fhat the
| defendant Howard 8. Sousa was the sole owner member and manager of
Westview Carlton Group, LLC (Westvrew) which he formed for the sole purpose
of owning the two buildings in question; Sousa’s residence was Westwew s
principal place of business; Sousa_vr/as in total control of all of Westview's

operations and made all the decisions involving finances, policy and business
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practices; No state or federal tax returns were filed by Westview for the three tax

years that Westview owned the buildings, and Sousa inténtional!y failed to

preserve Westview's ﬁhanciél recor&s so that there was inadequate documentary
support for his claim that Westview was a losing venture; Sousa’s control and

domination of all of Westview's affairs was such that asto the‘obligation fo the

- plaintiff, Westview had no separate mind, will or existence-of its own. Id., 633.

The Appeliate Court, citing Litchfield Asset Management Corp. v. Howell,
supra, 70 Conn. App. 148, held: [tlhere was more than ample evidence to
support the coqrt’s determination that under the instrumentality test, the
corporate veil should be pierced in this case. In addition to, and in support of, the
numerous specific factual findings made by the trial court, th_eré was evidence
that Westview lacked an agent for service as required. by General Statutes §§ 34-
121 and 34-104, filed no annﬁa! reports with the Secrefary of the state as
required by ‘Gener.a! S{atutes § 34-10.6 and lécked any of the documentation
réquired for a limited liability éorporation, as réquired by General Statutes § 34-
144, In addition, there was evidence that Westview failed to maintain any
business records for the proberty. 'féiled to file tax returns for any of the years
involved and was underéapitalized. There was also evidence that Sousa
commingled Westview funds for his own benefit, by transferring funds from
Westview to a differe_nt entity controlled by him, namely, .the Clyde Group, for
purported paymeni of undocumented and unsubstantiated loans. Finally, there
was evidence that when Westview sold the prdperty, Squsa, not the plaintiff,

Westview's creditor, was the beneficiary of the $74,000 net proceeds of the sale.
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_ *Thus, we rejeer'the defendants’ suggestion that this was 'simply a case of

a singleehareholder being charged_with a corporate debt solely because of his
ownership-status. There was amiple eviderrce that Westview had no separate
exrstence that Sousa treated it as such and that Sousa used it to perpetrate an
unjust act in contravention of the plaintiff's legal rights. The evidence in this case
amply supports the court’s determination that the corporate veil should be
pierced.” Id., 641. | |

(2)
‘Vell Piercing Inapplicable
The caselaw also re\reale a.number of factual scenarios where \r_eil

piercing was found not appiicable. In Voge!v. New Mitford, 161 Conn. 490, 290
A.2d 231 (1971), the Supreme Courf_ cOncluded that the record did not support
the application of the 'instrumentality or identity rLrles to permit the corporate form
to be disregarded. Id., 494. In that case, the plaintiff contested the application of
, defendant William E. Thomas (T homas) to the board of selectman for a change

of name for his business, Bill's Garage, a sole proprietorship, to Bill's Auto
Wrecking, Inc. a corporation. Id., 491. In finding error in the trial court's
dismissal of the appeal, the Supreme Court emphasrzed the followmg factors: (1)
| the record did not support that defendant Thomas was the dommant sharehoider .
of Bill's Auto Wreg:kmg, Inc.; and (2) "nor is there anything to indicate that if he

was, his control was being used in this ease to commit a fraud or to perpetuate a

dishonest or unjust act.” id., 494.

A54




“In Angelo Tomasso, Inc. v. Armor Construction & Paving, Inc., 187 Conn.
544, 447 A.2d 406 (1982), the Supreme Court considered a situation where an
‘;insider” attempted to pierce the corporate veil to reach an “outsider’ who,
personaily and. not through another corporate entity, ekerci_sed a great deal of
dontrol over 'corporate affairs. id., 555. The court distinguished the 6ase from
“the ordinary situation in which a corporate veil is pie-rced by a creditor suing an
individual who has used a corporation as an instrument of fraud. See Saphirv.
Neustadt, supra [177 Conn. 191]; Zaistv. Olson, supra [154 Conn. 563]. Nor is
this a ‘reverse pierce’ situation where an ‘insider’ is attempting to pierce the

corporate veil from within the corporation.” Angelo Tomasso, Inc. v. Armor

Construction & Paving, Inc., supra, 187 Conn. 555..

The court in Angelo Tomasso, inc., explained: "The concept of piercing
the corporate veil is equitable in néture. ... No hard and fast rute, however, as to
the conditions under which the entity may be disregarded can be stated as they
vary according to the circumsténces of each case. . . . The circumstance that
control is exercised merely through domiinating stock ownership, of course, is not
enough. . .. There r;ius;t_ be such domination of finances, policies and practices
that the controlled corp_oratio‘n haé, so to speak, no separate mind, will or
existence of its own and is but a business conduit for its principal.”® (Citations
omitted; internal q_uotation marks omitted.) Id., 555-56.

In concludihg against veil pier&ing, the court noted the following factors:

(1) “stock ownership, while important, is not a prerequisite to piercing the

corporate veil but is merely one factor to be considered in evaluating the entire
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situation™; (2) “we have never requiréd that an individual be an officer or director
of the pierced corporaﬁph in order to hold him liable for the debts of the -
corporatié:n”; and (3) “lilt is clear thét the kgy factor in any decision to disregard
the separate corporate entity is the element of conirol or influence exerbised by
the individual sought to be held liable over corporate affairs.” Id., 556-57.

The court held that there was insufficient evidence to pierce the corporate
veil. 1d., 557-58. In so holding, it 'elxpla'ined: “Ordinafil'y the corporate veil is
pierced or_ﬂy under excebtional circumstances, for example, where the
corporation is a mere shell, servipg no legitimate purpose, and used pri'fnarily-as
an intermediary to perpetuate fraud or promote injustice. . . . Even though the
evidence, when viewed In th.é light most favorable to the third party piainﬁffs,
demonstrates that [the individual] did indeed exercise a considerable an‘iount of
control (although he was not a director, officer or shareholder) over the business
affairs of [the corporation], with respect to the specific transaction a&acked ca
there is insufficient evidence of [the individual's) dom}nance or influence such as
is required to disregard the separate legal entity of the corporation. |

“The specific transaction out of which the third party plaintiffs' liability
arises is the signing of the plaintiffs’ guarantee. There was simply no evidence
presented which could show thaf, with resb'ect to the s—i;ning of the guarantee,

[the individ ual’s] control was used . . . to commit fraud or wrong, to perpetrate the

violation of a étatutory or other positive legal duty, or a dishonest or unjust act in
contravention of [the third party plaintiffs] legal rights; and . . . that the aforesaid
control and breach of duty . . . proxirhateiy causeld] the injury or unjust loss
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complained of.” (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Id., 557~

68.
. Under the identity rule, the court in Angelo Tomasso, Inc., held that v“-[t]he

evidencs presented does not show that there was such a unity of interest and

ownership that the independence of the corporation had in effect ceased or had

" never begun, [such that] an adherence to the fiction of separate identity would

serve only to defeat justice and equity by permitting the economic entity to
escape liabllity arising out of aﬁ operation'conducted-by oﬁe corporation for the
benefit of the whole enterprise. . . . The identity rule primarily applies to prevent.
injustice in the sitl;iation where two corporéte entities are, in reality, controlled as
one enterprise because of the existence of common owners, officers, directors or
shareholders and because of the lack of observance of corporaté formalities
between the two éntities. ... The third party plaintiffs have neither claimed nor
presented evidencé that [the'corporationj and [a'nother corporation], the company
of which [the individual] was president, were actually one enferprise. Therefore,
the identity rule cannot avail the third party plaintiffs of fhe reliéf they seek.”
(Citations omitted; intemnal quotation marks omitted.) Id., 559-60.

In Hersey v. Lonrho Inc., 73 Conn. App. 78, 807 A.2d 1009 (2002), the
trial court had concluded that the facts failed to support piercing the corporate
veil. There, thé plaintiff sought to recover for personal injuries suffered while a

guest at a resort in the Bahamas owned and promoted by out-of-state

corporations. Id., 79-80. The Appellate Court noted: “When determining whether

piercing the corporate veil is proper, our Supreme Court has endorsed two tests:
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(Internal quotatlon marks omftted )

the instrumentality test and the identity test.”
id., 87 In affirming the decms:on of the trial court, the Appellate Court noted,

among ,ther factors, that “Jejven 100% stock ownership and commonallty of

[officers and directors] are not alone sufl‘ icient to establish an alter ego .

relatlonshlp between two corporations,” and that “there had been edherence fo

the corporate formalities between the defendant and its subsidiaries.” (Citations
omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Id., 88,

The Appellate Court in KLM Industries, Inc. v. Tylutki, supra, 75 Conn.
App. 27, reversed a court's declelon ascribing liability to an individual by piercing -
the corporate veil, In that case, the plaintiff brought an action against a compan'y
and its president to recover for materials furnished by the plaintlff in connection'
with home construction. Id., 29. In reversing the trial court's decision to pierce
the corporate veil, the Appeliate Court considered the following factors: (1) the
presndent was not the sole shareholder and, in fact, held no corporate shares, the
president's Spouse was sole shareholder and director of the company; (2) the:
president exercnsed no more control over the company than that of any president
of a closely helcl corporation; (3) the president and his spouse treated the
company as a distinct entity as evidenced by them having informal discussions
cencemlng tompany activities from time o time, tlle Spouse consenting to
corporate actlvn‘les from time to time, and the company maintaining its returned

checks and statements filing and maintaining corporate tax returns, and filing its

biannual report. Id., 34-35.
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Post-Judgment Coﬂection Efforts
(1)
| Adequate Remeay' at Law -

The defendants, in addition fo denying the plaintiffs’ claims, contend that
the plaintiff are not entitled to equitable relief thrdugh veil piercing bécause the
plaintiffs have adeqLiate remedie‘s at law in seeking to collect on the 2001
judgment. They: argue that the plalntrffs have not fully pursued normal statutory
judgment collectlon procedures mcludmg garmshments attachments and
executions. Although the plaintiffs have a llen on Parcel A pursuant to General
’ Statutes § 527380a;" they have not attempte_d to foreclose that lien. A judgment

lien has not been filed on Parcel B. The plgintiffs have not re?lize,d on assets
.disclosed pursuant to postjudgment discovery. Nor have the plaintiffs filed a
fraudulent transfer action under General Statutes § 52-552a-et seq. The
defendants also .corlltend that the plaintiffs have lost an opportunity to collect
ti;;ping fees for filing activities from Gateway. |

In opposition, the plaintiffs argue that no Connecticut court has ever
demed a plaintiff's eqmtable request for velt plerclng based on the failure to
pursue post-judgment collection remedies. Mqreover, the Farriciellis have used
State Five to hide the fact that.Jo‘se.ph Farricielli had assets. Noting that this
action was filed on August 24, 2005, the plaintiffs contend that it was reasonable
to start extensive c;ollection efforts after the Supreme Court decided Joseph
Farricielli's appeal of the 2001 judgment on June 1, 2004. See Rlocque V.
Farricielli, 269 Conn. 187, 848 A.2d 1206 (2004). thtempt proceedings were
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also pending to prevent Joseph Farricielli from interfering’with remediation
efforts. The plaihtiffs also accuse the Farriclellis of not truthfully responding to
post-judgment iriterrogaton'es served by the commissioner in the fall of 2004.
They érgue that the Farriciellis ha\.;e greatly overestimated the value of Parcel A
and B. The plaintiffs also contest the defendants’ argument regarding the |
generation and use of tipping fees. l.

In seeking guidaﬁpe on this issue, the parties have cited several
Connecticut cases. The Supreme Court in Angelo Tomasso, Inc. v. Armor
Construction & Paving, ]nb., supra, 187 Conn. 555, noted the general pr_incipé]
that “[o]rdinarily the corporate veil is pierced only under exceptional
circumstancés.‘ for example, where the corporation is a mere shell, serving no
legitimate purbose, and used p'rimarily as an intermediary to perpetuate fraud or
promote injustice.” Id., 557. In Stocker v. Waterbury, 154 Conn. 448, 226 A2d
514 (1967), the éourt explained that “[a]Jdequate remedy at law' means a remedy
vested in the complainant, to which he may, at all times, resort, at his own option,
fully and freely, without let or hindrénce. . . . lf the plaintiffs have an adequate
remedy at law then they e;re not entitled to the injunction.” Id., 449.

In Connecticul. Light & Power Co. v. Westview Carlfon Group, LLC, supra,
108 Conn. App. 641-642, the Appellate Court held that the evidence
demonstrated that Ehe corporate veil should have been pierced. The defendants
.claimed on 'gppéal 'that the trial co.urt improperly concluded that the plaintiff was
not obligated to mitigate its damages by pursuing the statutory remedy of a

receiver of rents pursuant to General Statutes § 16-262f. id. The Appellate
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Court disagreed. Id. -The court held that, under the facts of the case, the plaintiff

had to make reasonable efforts. Id. There, the “plaintiff was not obligated to

mitigate its damages by resorting to a rent receivership, which would have itself

been expensive, time-consuming, and might well have resulted in tenants

declining to pay rent at all. Furthermore, there was evidence that [the sole

plaintiff that he was working on a long-term

e sold the

shareholder] misrepresented to the

solution that would have afforded peyment to the plaintiff. Instead, h

property wnthout notifying the plaintiff and pocketed the net proceeds of the sale

for himself." Id. 642—43
The Appellate Court in Lifchf old Assef Management Cozp v. Howell,

supra, 70 Conn App. 133, found that the plamtaff was not reqwred fo try an

attachment before pursuing a reverse veil piercing. The court noted: "Another ,

concern in reverse piercing cases is that they result in the bypass of normal

judgment co]leot[on prooedures for example the chargmg of a member's interest

in the limited Hiability company pursuant to General Statutes § 34-171. ... In this

case, however, Mary Ann Howell did not receive regular distributions but rather,

paid her pe-rsonal bills directly using limited liability company funds. Any attempt

by the plaintiff to attach distributions, therefore, would have been fruitless.”

(Citation omitted.) 1d., 151 n.14.

Although the defendants raise a valid concern, it is not implicated by the

particular facts of this case. After the 2001 judgment was entered, the parties

were occupied with the appeal and the remediation efforts. Before the Appellate

Court's decision in All Seasons Services, Inc. V. Guildner, 89 Conn. App. 781,
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782-83, 878 A.2d 370 (2005) (denying motion to enforce automatic stay-of |

judgfnent)., the law was unclear as to whether the plaintiffs were able to start

collection procedures during the pendency- of the appeal.

Contrary to the deféndants‘ assertions, the plaintiffs did not make an “end
rqn" arouﬁd normal collection efforts, Under the éxtraordinary ciréumstances of
- this éase, the plaintiffs made reasonable efforts to collect on the 2001 judgment.
AThe evidence demonstrate§ that the Farriciellis attempted to use State Five to
hide assets. The Farricie!li_s_fnade misrepresentations in the post-judgment
interrogatories. See Connecticut. Light & Power Co. v. Westview Carifon Group,
LLC, supra, 108 Conn. App. 633. The defendants used corporate funds to pay
thousanqs of dollars in personal expenses, corﬁplicaﬁng aﬁy normal coilection

efforts. See Litchfield Asset Management Corp. v. Howell, supra, 70 Conn. App.

133.
-C

Plaintiffs’ Claims
(1)

State Five

The First and Second Counts allege claims of reverse veil piercing égainst
State Five based on the instrumentality and ideﬁtjty rules. The plaintiffs claim
that the defenda}nt _‘State Five is the alter ego of Joseph Farricielli, such that State
Five should be };eld liable for the obligations imposed by the 2001 judgment.
As previously-stated, the instrumentality rule requires: "(1) Control, not

mere majority or complete stock control, but é;'omplete domination, not only of
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finances but of policy and business practice in respect to the transaction attacked
so that the corpprate entity as to this transaction h‘ad at the time no separate
mind,.will or ekistenc_:e of its own; (2) that such control must have been used by
the defendant to commit fraud-or wrong, to perpetrate the violation of a statutory
or other pbsitive legal duty, or a dishonest or unjust act in contfavention of
plaintiff's legal rights; and (3) that 1the aforeséid control and breach of d'uty must
proximately cause the injury or unjust loss .complai'hed of." Zaistv. dlson, supra,
154 Conn, 575. The identity rule requires “that there was such a unity of interest
and ownership that the independence of the corporatiqns had in effect ceased or
had never begun, an adherence to the fiction of separate identity would serve

. only to defeat justice and equity by permitting the economic entity tb escape

liability arfsing out of an ope'ra‘tion conducted by one corporation for the benefit of

the whole enterprise.” Zaist v. Olson, supra, 154 Conn. 576. “The instant case

requires an analysis of the facts adduced at trial to detemiine whether or not the
plaintififs have] fulfilled the requirements of either the instrumlenta}ity rule or the
identity rule.” Cadle Co. v. Zﬁbretslg/, supra, 44 Conn. L Rptr. 8486.

Contrary to the defendants’ denial that State Five and Joseph Farriciell
are alter egos of one another, the evidence demonstrates that the defendant
State Five is the alter ego of Joseph Farricielli, such that State Five should be
held hable for the obligations imposed by the 2001 judgment.

The fi rst prong of the mstrumentahty rute, control, is met based on the
following. During this period, Joseph and Jean Farnclelh continued to make or

be involved in making decisions necessary to run State Five. Joseph.Farricielll

o o .
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create‘d' the defendant company. Even after stock ownership was transferred to
Recycling Enferprises,.which was owned by Jean Farricielli and their two sons,
Joseph F'arric.ielli controlied the defendant company. Over the years, he
transferred property to the defendant compény forno consideration., Joseph
Farricieili transferred'Parcel C to the defendant company by quit-claim deed. He
negotiatéd a lease agreement for the Nextel cell tower on State Five property
which, to create a fall zone, required the transfer of a parcel of prﬁperty from one
of t_he defendant éorporat_ipns subject to the 200;1 judgment. The defendant
company then received the lease payments for the cge[l tower without péying | _
- anything for the property. |

Joseph Farricielfi nertiate’d the terms of LaVelle’s involvément with the
defendant cbmpany. After LaVelle became president of the defendant company,
Joseph Farricielli continued to use office space there. Later in 2001, Joseph
' Farricie!.!i negotiated the transfer of 6wnership of the defendant company to
LaVelle. LaVelle did ‘not pay anything for his stock ownership. The salg was not
pro;;eriy reflected in the defendant company’s books.” The transfer of ownership
" included a "side-deal” by which LaVelle-and tﬁe Farriciellis would equally split
profits from the deve[opment of Parcel C as an industrial park. The sale did not
rise to the level of a real sale from an economic standpoiht.‘ :

During {and after LaVelle’s tenure, Joseph Farricelli continued to exercise
power and influence ;)ver the defendant cbmpany's affairs, even thoth he was
no longer an officer or director. Joseph Farricielli rernained involved in State

Five's business transactions. He 'con'tinued 1o deal with the old tenants and
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negotiated at least one lease with a new tenant. Joseph Farricielli wrote and
signed checks on Stgte Five's aécount on a regular basis. He 6ontinued fo direct
the-defendant company's a'cc:oﬁntant and bookkeeper. Joseph Farricielii .'
maintained d.irect or indirect power to control the management and policies of
State Five with his wife. - | |

L aVelle was not in full control of the defendant company while he was
president or owner. ‘Under the sales agreement,.he was not able to sell or
mortgage any of the corporate property. He was not able to draw on State Five's
line of credit. LaVéIle did not pay anything for his stockholdings in the defendant -
company. He did not receive any income. -

The sale of State Five to LaVelle did not rise to the level of a bona fi de
séle from an economic point of view. The seller bound the buyer from'engaging
" in necessary or desirable transactions. Although the main asset of the company
was its approximately seventeen acres of property, LaVelle was proh}bited from
mortgaging or selling any property to finance the development of Parcel C as an
industrial park. If the seller was Iookiné for protection, the seller could have
secured a note rather than place restrictions on buyer’s ability to sell and
mortgage the property. The documentation for the $2.5 million sale consisted
only of a few pages. The agreement called for_the sale price to be paid in
instalhﬁents, bu.t it was not recorded in the books. The sale was not booked as a

v
H

liabllity. There was a lack of evidence that the transaction rose to the level of a

real sale from an economic point of view.
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While State Five’s core business was being a landlord for commercial

tenants on its property, Parcel C, it assumed substantial debts transferred from
2_00_1 judgment corporate defendanfs. .These debts had nothing to do with Stgte
Five's core business. State Five's financial situation _worsened dramatically after
the 20_01 judgment was entered, _Staté Five asstimed more and more debt
'per.sonally guaranteed by t"h_e Farriciéllis. The debts were assumed with
insufficient asséts. The defendant company was not adequately capifalized; it
‘had insufficient funds to pay the assumed debt. State Five baid_ the debts of
steph Farricielli's other companies that were liable for the 2001 judgmer;t.‘
State Five was used to pay personal expenses.of Joseph and Jean
Farricielli and used to make interest-free loans to family members. Funds were
put in and taken out of State Five for persénal rather than corporate purposes.
~ There was an absence of corporate formalities. The defendarit company was not
treated as an independent profit center. State Five's aécount was trea'ted asa
personal account. Stéte Five had no full time employeés. State Five paid the |
debts of other corporations. The corporate defenda.nts that were subject to the
2001 judgment and State Five did not deal With-eac;h other at arm's length as
| evidenced by the transfer of property for the cell tower lease. For all of these

reasons, the first prong of the instrumentality rule, control, is met.

The secong prong of the instrumentality rule, that such control must have
been used by the defendant to commit fraud or wrong, to perpetrate the violation

of a statutory o other positive legal duty, or a dishonest or unjust act in

contravention of plaintiff's legal rights, is satisfied based on the following. A few
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months after the 2001 judgment was entered Josetnh Farricielli negotiated the
transfer of State Five to LaVe!Ie Joseph FaITIGIEHI and his companies did not
have suffi ctent funds or assets to satisfy the 200'1 judgment yet financial
resources were transferred to the defendant company. The defendant
.company's funds were inc:reasingly" comntingled with the Farriciellis’ personal
funds, and State Ftve assets were diverted for personal use. Joseph Farriciellt
used his direct or indirect control or influence over State Five-to pay personal
expenses, while he avoidect setisfyirig the ebltgations of the 2001 judgment. In
~ addition, State Five paid the property taxes of ene of the corporate defendants
that were subject to the 2001 judgment. State Five paid Joseph Farricielli's
personal expenses, including attorneys’ fees, when he was no longer an officer
or director. Joseph Farricielii's direct and indirect conttot or influence over the
defendant company was used to avoid funding the obligations ulnder the 2001
- judgment. Joseph Farricielli committed an unjust act by using the defendant
company to evade satistying the 2001 judgment. Accordingly, the second prong
of the instrumentality rule is satisfied. | | |
The third prong of the instrumentality rule, proximate cause, s tnet based
on the following. Joseph Farricielli and the corporate defendants have not
complied with the 2001 judgment; specifically, they have not funded the closure
of the Tire Pond or the,Q—Eark landfill, nor have they paid the assessed
penalties. Joseph Ferricielli's direct or indirect control or influence over State
Five was used to avoid funding the obligations under the 2001 judgment, |

including the obligation to pay the civil penalties assessed. Joseph Farricielli was -
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responsible for transferring assets and funds out of the 2001 judgment cgrporate
deféndants. thereby depri\')ing fhe plaintiffs of means to collect the 2001
judgment. Joseph Farricielli commingled his p&rsonal funds with the defendant -

company to evade the 2001 judgment.

The plaintiffs attempted property executions, but they-have not been able

to satisfy th'e,2001 judgment. They have béen deprived of the means of
collecting the 2001 judgment. The actions of Joséph Farricielli were a Asubstantial'
factor in the fai[ure to satisfy the 2001 judgment aﬁd were the proximate cause of
| the plaintiffs’ loss. As a reéult, Joseph Farricielli and the other defendants to the
2001 judgment have not funded the obligations under the Judgment and have
not paid the civil penalties. |

- Under the ihstrumentality rule, there is sufficient evidence of Joseph
Farricielli’s control or influence over State Five such as is required to disregard
the separate Iegal_ identity of_the corporation.. During the period 'in question, State
Five had no éeparate mind, will or existence of its own; it was merely a business
conduit for the Farr'iciellis.

‘ The evidence a.lso demonstrates that the id.entity rule’s requirement, unity
of interest ahd ownership, is met baséd on the foliowin'g facts. There was a unity
of interest and ownership between Joseph Farricielli and State Five. Joseph
Farricielli creat?;d the defe'ndant corporation. He transferred ownership to
Recycling Enterprises, which was owned by his wife and his two sons. Over the

years, he transferréd property and assets to the defendant company, including
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- Parcel C, without consideration. He was the president of the defendant company

for over thirty years. |
| During and after LaVelle’s tenure, Joseph Farricielli Q(vas 'intimateiy

“involved in the businesé of State Five, Joseph_Farriéielli continued fo Write ‘
checks ron State Five’s account, even though he was no Ibnger an officer or
director or on the signature card. He dealt with old tenants and.negotiated a
lease with at least'one hew tenant. He continued to direct the defendant '
corhpany’s accountant and bookkegper. He used State Five’s office spacé,

Jos_epﬁ Farricielli did not treat State Five as a disﬁnct entity. Personal and

business funds were commingled. Corporate fuhds were used to pay personal
expenseé. The defendant company assumed thousands of dollars of debt that
Joseph énd Jean Farricielll had personally guaranteed. The debt was assumed

with insufficient assets and had nothing to do with the core business of State

Five. The Farriciellis’ personal assets were used to fund the defendant company.

Company funds were used extensively to pay personal expenses, State Five
paid thousands of dollars of Joseph and Jean Farricielli's personal expenses,
including his legal bills relating to the 2001 judgment. Joseph Farricielli made
purchases on the corporate credit card. The defendant company was not fully
reimbursed for the payment of personal expenses. Interest-free loans were -
made to family members. There was a lack of corporate formalities, including
Joseph Farricielli being able to write checks on the corporate account when he

was no longer president and when LaVelle was owner. The defendant company
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was not adequately capitalized. The defendant company had a lack of economic

resources.

In éddition, corporate formalities weré not observéd, and the sepafate .'
corporate éxistence was Ignored in the following ways: shareholders’ or directors’
meetings were not held regularly; no sharp distinction was drawn between
corporate prbperty and personal property; improper accounting was employed;
transactions between the defendant company and the 2001 judgment corporate
defendants were not conducted on an amj’s 'Iéngth basis; State Fiye falled to
receive consideration for stock transfer to LaVelle; and undocumented loans
were made.

At all times relevant to -this litigation, there was such a unity of interest and
control among Joseph Farricielli and the.defenda'nt company that the
independence of State Five had in effect ceased or never began. Joseph
Farricielli, directly or indirectly, so controlléd the finances, policies, and practicés
of State Five that “an ad he’renée to the fiction of separate identity would serve
only to defeat justice and equity by permitting” Josep‘h Farricielli and the
de_fen_dant c&mpany to escape liability for the obligations of the 2001 judgment.

See Zaist v. Olson, supra, 154 Conn. 575-76.

Under both the instrumentality and identity rules,.the evidence supports

the conclusion that'the defendant State Five is the alter ego of Joseph Farricielii,

such that State Five should be held liable for the obligations imposed by the 2001

judgment.

(2)
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Jean Farricielli

The Third and Fourth Count allege claims of veil piercing against Jean
Farricielli based oh the instrumentality and identity rules. The plaintiffs allege
that State Five is the alter ego of Jean Farricielli, and, therefore, she should be
held liable for the dbligations imposed by the 2001 judgment, assuming the
corporate veil of State Five is first pierced, imposing ub‘on State Five the |
obligations of the 2001 judgment,

Contrary to the defendants’ denial that State Five and Jean Farricielli are
alter egos of one another, the evidence demonstrates that State Five is the alter
‘ego of Jean Farricielli, and, therefore, she should be held liable for the
obligations imposed upon State Five by reverse-piercing the corporate veil. ltis
axiomatic that many of the factors relevant to the prior claims are relevant to
these claims as well.

The first prong of the instrumentality rule, conirol, is met based upon the
following facts. During this period, Jean and Joseph Farricielli continued to make
or be involved in making decisions necessary to run State Five. Jean Farricielli
maintained direct or indirect control and influence d\?e_r the management,
finances, poli'cies and business practices of the defendant company before, ‘7
during and after LaVelle's tenure. She continually-utilized her authority over
State Five regardless of her status as shareholder, director or officer. She was
involved in almost all of the defendant company’s business transactions. This

- control and influence was clearly evident in the fact that only Jean F_arficiefli was

able to draw on the defendant company’s line of crédit,r_lot LaVelle.
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Jean Farricielli 'commingled péréonal and business funds. Jean Farriciell
borrowed money on personal assets, put the money into State Five, then State
Five péid off debt she had personally guaranteed. Jean Farricielli éuthorized
State Five to pay the F>a'rr%cie[lis' personal expenses. Jean Farricielli faileld to
maintéin corporate fbrmaliiieé When she used State Five to pay her persona!
obligations.

Jean Faricielli returned as president and majority stockhdlder after
LaVelle leftin August, 2004, Jean Farripiglli had, by far, the Iérgest ownership
interest in State Five. Jean Farricielli continued to use her control and influence
over State Five to pay her and Joseph Farricielli's personal expenses. She used
her authority of State Five to do her bidding.

State Five was used to pay personal expenses of Jean and Joseph
Farricielli and used to make interest-free Ioané to family members. Funds were
put in and taken out of State Fivé for personal, rather than corpoi‘ate, purpoSes.
There was aﬁ absence of corporate formalities. |

The second prong of the instrumentality rule, breach, is satisfied by the
following. A few months after the 2001 judgment was entered, Jean Farricielli
~ transferred her majority ownership of the defendant company to LaVelle for no
consideration. The defendant company was required to assume thousénéis of
‘ dé!lars of débt {tha,t Jean and Joseph Farricielli had personally guaranteed. The
debt was assumed with insufficient assets. State Five funds were increasingly

commingled with the Farriciellis’ personal funds; and State Five funds ahd assets

were diverted for personal use. Jean Farricielli used her direct or indirect control
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or influence over the defendant company to pay the Farriciellis’ personal

expenses, including the morigages and taxes on the residence in Branford and
"Florida. State Five was used to pay these personal expenses, while Joseph

Farricielli avoided satisfying the obligations of the 2001 judgment.

Jean Farriciell used her direct and indirect control or influence over State
Five to help her husband and his companies evadé funding the obligatiohs_ under
the 2001 judgment, Jean Farricielli committed an unjust act by using the
defendant cbmpany to evade satisfying‘ the 2001 judgment.

The third prong of the instrumentality rule, proximate cause, s satisﬁed by
the following. lJoseph Farricielli and the corporate defendahts have not complied
with the 2001 judgment; specifically, they have not funded the blosure of the Tire
Pond of the Q-Park landfill, nor have they paid the assessed penalties. Jean
Farricielli's direct or indirect control or influence over State Five was used to
assist her husband to evade satisfying the obligations under the 2001 judgment,
- including the obligation to pay the civil penalties assessed. Jean Farricielll
participated in transferring assets and funds out of the 2001 judgment corporate
defendants, thereby depriving the plaintiffs of means to collect the.2001

judgment. Jean Farricielli was responsible for commingled personal funds with

the defendant company to evade the 2001 judgment.

The plaintiffs attempted property executions, but they have not been able
to satisfy the 2001 judgment. They have been deprived of the means of
collecting the 2001 judgment. Thé actions of Jean Farricielli were a substantial

factor in the failure to satisfy the 2001 judgment and were the proximate cause of
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the p]aintiffs' loss. As a resuit, Joseph Faricielli and the other defendants to the
2001 judgment have not funded the obligations under the judgment and have not
paid the civil penalties. o |

Under the instrumentality rule, there is sufficient evidence of Jean
Farricielli’s cbntro;l 5r influence over State Five such as is required fo disregard
the separate legal identity of the corporétion. During the period in qqestion, State
Five had no s’eparate‘min'd, wi'li‘or existence of its own; it was merely a business
conduit for the Farriciells:

The evidence also derﬁonstrates that the identity rule’s requirement, unity
of interest and ownership, is met based on the following facts: There was a unity
of interest and ownership between Jean Earricielli and State Five. Jean Farricielli
is the majority shareholder of Recycling Enterprises, which has owned the -

“defendant company except for the period of LaVelle's involvement.

During and after LaVelle's tenure, Jean Farricielli was intimately involved
in the business of the defendant company. She wrote numerous checks on State-
Five's account. She used office space. Jean Farricielli did not treat State Five
as a distinct entity. Personal and business funds were commingled. Corporate
funds were used to pay peréoﬁal expenses. The defendant company assumed
thousands of d'oilai_'s of debt fhat Jean and Joseph Farmicielli had personally
guaranteed. 7\ Tpe debt was assumed with insufficient assets and had nothing to

| do with the core business of State Five. The Farriclellis’ personal assets were
used to fun¢ the defendant company. Company funds were used extensively to

pay personal expenses. State Five paid thousands of dollars of Jean and
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Joseph Farricielli's personal expenses, inc_ludin’g the mortgages on the family
residences and Joseph Farricielli’'s lefjél bills relating fo the 2001 judgment. The
defendant company was not fully reir_nbursed for the payment of personal
expenses. Interest-free loans were made to family membérs. Jean Farricielli
used State Five to pay her personal expenses. Jean‘Farri_cielli made-
unsupporied withdréwals from and payments to State Five's account. The
defendant company was not adequateiy capitalized to pay these debts and |
personal expenses. State Five lacked economic resources.

In addition, corporate formalities were not observed, and the separate
corporate existence was ignored in the following ways: Shareholders’ or
directors’ meetings were not held regu!ar[y; no sharp digtincti‘on.was drawn
betwéen corporate pr.operty and personal prbperty; improper accounting was
employéd; transactions between the defendant company and the 2001 judgment
corporate defendants were not conducted on an arm’s Igﬁgth basis; State‘ Five

failed to receive consideration for stock transfer to LaVeile; and undocumented

loans were made.
At all times relevént to this litigation, there was such a unity of interest and

control between Jéan Farricielli and the defendant company that the
independence of State Five had in effect ceased or never began. Jean Farriciell,
directly or indirectly,_fgo controlled the finances, po]icfes. and practices of State
Five that “an adhéerence to the fiction of separate identity would serve only to

defeat justice and equity by permitting” Jean Farricielli and the defendant

company, having pierced the corporate veil through her husband, to escape
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liabiiity for the obligations of the 2001 judgment. See Zaist v. Ofson, supra, 154

Conn, 575-76.

Under both the mstrumentaflty and |dent:ty rules the evidence supports
the conclusion that State Five is the alter ego of Jean Farnmel!!, and, therefore,
she should be held liable for the pbligations of the 2001, judgment, which are, as
stated pre\)iously, to be imposed upon State Five by reverse-'piercing the
corporate veil. |

D

Special Defenses

In their amended answer, dated Fébruary 12, 2'008‘ the defendanis raise

four special defenées: abandonment’: failure to mitigate damages®; estoppel”;

and “lack of clean hands."®

Ordinarily, a special defense is analyzed in the followihg way. "[A] special
defense is not anindependent acfion; rather, it is an attempt to “plead facts that
are consistent with the allégations' of the cor’r’ablaint but demonstrate, |
nonetheless, that tﬁe plaintiff has no cause of action.” Valentine v. LaBow, 95
Conn. App. 436, 447 n. 10, 897 A.2d 624, cert. denied, 280 Conn. 933, 909 A.2d
963 (2006). "Generally speaking, facts must be pleaded as a spécial defense
when they are bohsistent with the éllegations of the complaint but demonstrate,
nonetheless, that the plaintiff has no cause of action. Practice Book § 10-50.”
Almadav. Wausau Business Ins. Co., 274 Conn, 448, 456, 876 A.2d 535 (2005)
Practice Book § 10-50, entitled “Denials; Special Dafenses," provides: “No facts

may be proved under either a generél or special denial except such as show that
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fhe plaintiff's statements of fact are untrue. Facts which are consistent with such
statements but show, notwithstanding, that the plaintiff has no cause of action,
must be specially é!ieged " “Under our practice, when a defendant pleads a
special defense, the burden of proof on the allegations contained therein is on
the defendant.” DuBose v. Carabefta, 161 Conn. 254,‘262,1 287 A.2d 357 (1971).
“Whoever asks the court to grant judgment regarding any legal right or liability
| has the burden of proving the existence of the facts essen.tiaf to his or her claim
or defense.” C. Tait& E. Prescott, Tait's Handbodk of C&nnecticut Evidence (4th
Ed. 2008) § 3.3.1, p. 114.

| “Piercing the corporate veil is not a cauée of action; it is an equitable

remedy. Strictly' speaking, then, it may be wrong to speak of ‘defenses’ to an
action to pierce the corporate veil. The best 'defen-s'e’ is gimply that the doctrine
is inapplicable onlthe facts of the case and this is primarily a matter of
ascertaininé the plaintiff's theory and negating the plaintiff's allegations.” 45 Am.
Jur. 3d, Proof of Facts § 16 (1998).

Under common law, “[albandonment is a quesﬁon of fact. . .. Itimplies a
voluntary_anc':I intentfonal renunciation, but fhe intent may be inferred as a fact
from the surrounding circumstances.” (Citation omitted.) Pizzuto v. NeWington,
174 Conn. 282, 285, 386 A.2d 238 (1978). See also, State v. Zindros, 189 Conn.
228, 240 (1983), gert:denied, 465 U.S. 1012, 104 S. Ct. 1014, 79 L. Ed. 2d 244

(1984), and Stankiewicz v. Hawkes, 33 Conn. Sup. 732, 369 A.2d 253 (App.

Sess., Super. Ct., 1976).
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' Ordinarily, a party recéiving a damage award has a duty to make
reasonable efforts to mEﬁgate damages. See Cwekiinsky v. Mobile Cﬁemic’al Co.,
267-Conri.'210,-2.23,—837 A.2d 759 (2004). “Although . . . failure to mitiga’té
damagés is not one of the enﬁmerated defenses listed in [Practice Book] § 10-
50, Superior Court cases have épproved the use of a special defense to plead
this claim. . ..

Moreover, by allowing the failure to mitigate damages to be pled as a
special defense, it is clear that the defendant bears the burden of proof on this
issue.” (Citations omitted.) Profitec, Inc. v. FKI Inddstn'eé Inc., Superior Court,
judimal district of New Haven Docket No. CV 89 0427490 (November 24, 2000,
Deviin, J.) (28 Conn. L. Rpfr. 619 620)

“Equntable estoppel is the effect of the volunfary conduct of a party

whereby he is absolutely preé!uded, both at law and in equity, from asserting

_rights which might perhaps have otherwise exisfed ...as agaihst another

person, who has in good faith relied upon such conduct and has been led

thereby to change his position for the worse. . . . Its two essential elements are |

‘that one party must do or say something which is intended or calculated to

induce another to believe in the existence of certain facts to act on that belief,

and that the other party, inﬂuénced thereby, must change his position or do some
act to his injury which he otherwise would not have done.” (Citations omitted;
internal quotation marks omitted.) Bozziv. Bozzi, 177 Corin. 232, 241-42, 413

A.2d 834 (1979). "Estoppel rests on- the misleading conduct of one party to the
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prejudice of the other.” W v. W., 248 Conn. 487, 496, 728 A2d 1076 (1999);
Remkiewicz v. Remkiewicz, 180 Conn. 114, ’.119, 429 A.2d 833 (1980).

The clean hands doctrine is “[tlhe principle the}t a party cannot seek
equitable relief or assert an equitable defense if r‘that party has vioiated an
eqruitabfe principle, such as gobd faith. Such a party is described as having
‘unclean hands."’.- Black’s Law Dictionary (8th Ed. 2004). In evaluating the issue
of clean hands, the cpurf must consider “the equitable maxim that one whro seeks
to show that he is entitled to the benefit of equity must demonstrate that he
comes to court with ‘clean hands.™ Cohen v. Cohen, 182 Conn. 193, 201, 438
A.2d 55 (1980). The clean hand_s doctrine “is a legal euphemism which
expresses the principle tha_t where a parfy comes into equity 'for reﬁef he must
s_how his conducf has been fair, equitable and honest as to the particular
controversy in issue.” Collens v. New Canaan Water Co., 155 Conn, 477, 492,
234-A.2d 825 (1967). "Tﬁe ti_'ial court enjoys broad discretion in detehﬁining
whéther the promotion of public policy and-the preserva;tion of-the courts’ integrity
dictate that the clean hands doctrine be invoked.” Polverari v. Peatt, 29 Conn.
App. 191, 202, 614 A.2d 484, cert. denied, 224 Conn. 913, 617 A.2d 166 (1992).
“Application of the doctrine of unclean hands rests w.ithin the sound discretion of
the trial court. . . . The doctrine generally should not be employec_i to insulate the
party who asserts !it ffom the consequences of his own wrongdoing.” _(Citations

- omitted; internal q:iotation marks omitted.) A & B Auto Salvage, Inc.v. Zoning
Board of Appeals, 189 Conn. 573, 578, 456 A.2d 1187 (1983). The party who

seeks to invoke the clean hands doctrine to bar equitable relief must show that
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his opponent engaged in willful misconduct with regard to the matter in litigation.
| DeCecco V. Beach 174 Conn 29, 35, 381 A.2d 543 (1977)

The court has analyzed the defendants’ spécial defenseé to the vell
plercmg claims. Asto abandonment the evidence shows that the plaintiffs never
renunciated any right or interest in pursuing this matter. The defendants’
arguments for abandonment and failure to mitigate damages are similar to the
post~judgmént collection efforts arguments which were rejected byAthis court.
The facts fail to show that the pfaintiffé did anything to invoke the equitable
estoppel doctrine. Contrary to tne defenciénts' contentions, the plaintiffs’ conduct
was not misleading. FinalTy, there is no evidence that the plaintiffs acted in bad
faith. ‘The unclean hands doctﬁne should not be employéd to insulate the -
defendants from the consequences of their own wrongdoing. |

As previously stated; “Iilhe concept of piercing the cor'porate veil is
equitable in nature. . . . No hard and fast rule, howéver, as to the conditions
under which the entity may be disregarded can be stated as they vary according
to the circumstances of each case.” Angelo Tomasso, Inc. v. Annor Construction
& Paving, Inc., supra, 187 Conn. 555-56. Based on the evidence bresente_d, the
defendants have failed to demonstrate that veil piercing is inapplicable to the
facts of this case. Accordingly, the special defenses must fail.‘

J;‘r ! lV : . L . R
CONCLUSION AND ORDER
Based on the foregoing, defendant State Five is liable on the 2001

judgment, and defendant Jean L. Farriciélli is liable on the 2001 jﬁdgment.
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For the above-stated reasons, Judgment shall enter in favor of the
piaintiffs and -against the c_:lefendants as follows:

1. The prohibitory injunctions issued in the September 21, 2001
Memorandum of Decision and the October 7, 2004 Memorandum of Decision in
Rocque v. Farricielli, No. H_HD CV 99 0591 020 S,_shall be binding qn State Five
indusfrial Park, Inc., and on ‘Jean. L. Farricielli; |

2. Judgment shall enter against étate Five IndustriaI'Park, Inb.. and Jean
L. Farricielli, joiht!y and s'evérally, in the amount of $4,164,317.22 plus interest at

_ten percent (10%) per annum caiculét.ed'frdm September-,21 , 2001.

3. The obligations to reimburée the plaintiff commissioner of
environr_nenial protection for costs incurred, as set forth in paragraphs 6 and 7 on
pages 32 and' 33 of the Septerhbér 21, 2001 Memorandum of Decision in |
Rocque v. Fan;icielli, No. HHD CV 99 0591020 S, shall be binding, jointly and

severally, on State Five Industrial Park, Inc. and on Jean L. Farricielli.

BY THE COURT,

/ﬂentive@na, J. V

" “In the usual veil piercing case, a court is asked to disregard a corporate entity
so as to make available the personal assets of its owners to saflsfy a liability of
the entity.  In this case, an instance of what is known as "reverse piercing," the
plaintiff argues the opposite, that the assets of the corporate entities should be
made available to pay the personal debts of an owner.” Litchfield Asset

- Management Corp. v. Howell, 70 Conn. App. 133, 149, 799 A.2d 298, cert.
denied, 261 Conn. 911, 806 A.2d 49 (2002). “The fact pattern before us has
been more specifically described as ‘outsider reverse piercing,’ in that an outside
third party pursuing a claim against a corporate insider is attempting to have the

" corporate entity disregarded. Conversely, in an ‘insider reverse piercing’ claim, a
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corporate insider attempts to have the corporate entity disregarded.” iq., 149
n.13, citing G. Crespi, “The Reverse Pierce Doctrine: Applying Appropriate

Standards,” 16 J. Corp. L. 33, 37 (1990). ’

? “The [factfinding] function is vested in the trial court with its unique opportunity
to view the evidence presented in a totality of circumstances, i.e., including its
observations of the demeanor and conduct of the witnesses and parties . . . .”
(Internal quotation marks omitted.) Cavolck v. DeSimone, 88 Conn. App. 638,
646, 870 A.2d 1147, cert. denied, 274 Conn. 906, 876 A.2d 1198 (2005).

“Itis well established that in cases tried before courts, trial judges are the sole.
arbiters of the credibility of witnesses and it is they who determine the weight to
be given specific testimony. . . . Itis the quintéssential function of the fact finder
to reject or accept certain evidence . .. " (Internal quotation marks omitted.}) /n
re Anfonio M., 56 Conn. App. 534, 540, 744 A.2d 915 (2000). "The sifting and
weighing of evidence is peculiarly the function of the trier [of fact]. .. . [N]othing
in our faw is more elementary than that the trier [of fact] is the final judge of the
credibility of withesses and of the weight to be accorded to their testimony. . . .
The trier is free to accept or reject, in whole or in part, the testimony offered by
either party.” (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Smith v.
Smith, 183 Conn. 121, 123, 438 A.2d 842 (1981). “That determination of
credibility is a function of the trial court.” Heritage Square, LLC v. Foanou, 61

Conn. App. 329, 333, 764 A.2d 199 (2001).

“[Tlhe trier is free to juxtapose conflicting versions of events and determine which
is more credible. . . . Itis the trier's exclusive province to weigh'the conflicting
evidence and to determine the credibility of witnesses. . .. The trier of fact may
accept or reject the testimony of any witness. . . . The trier can, as well, decide
what — all, none, or some — of a witness’ testimony to accept or reject.”
(Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Stafe v, Osbom, 41 Conn.

App. 287, 291, 676 A.2d 399 (1996).

The trial court's function as the fact finder “is to draw whatever inferences from
the evidence or facts established by the evidence it deems to be reasonable and
logical.” (Interal quotation marks omitted.) /n re Christine F., 6 Conn. App. 360,
366, 505 A.2d 734, cert. denied, 199 Conn. 808, 508 A.2d 770 (1986).

“[Tlriers of fact must often rely on circumstantial evidence and draw inferences

fromit. . .. Proof of a material fact by Inference need not be so conclusive as to

exclude every other hypothesis. It is sufficient if the evidence produces in the

- mind of the trier a reasonable belief in the probability of the existence of the
material fact.” (Citations omitted; Internal quotation marks omitted.) Coville v..

Liberty Mutual Ins. Co., 57 Conn. App. 275, 285, 748 A.2d 875 (2000). -

“While a plaintiff is entitled to every favorable inference that may be legitimately
drawn from the evidence, and has the same right to submit a weak case as a

72 ' A B2




strong one, the plaintiff must still sustain the burden of proof on the contested

- issues in the complaint and the defendant need not present any evidence to
contradictit. . . . The general burden of proof in civiFactions is on the plaintiff,
who must prove all the essential allegations of the complaint.” (Citation omitted;
internal quotation marks omitted.) Gulycz v. Sfop & Shop Cos., 29 Conn. App.
519, 5623, 615 A.2d 1087, cert. denied, 224 Conn. 823, 618 A. 2d 527 (1992),
citing Lukas v. New Haven, 184 Conn. 205, 211, 439 A.2d 949 (1981). '

The standard of proof, a fair preponderance of the evidence, is “properly defined
as the better evidence, the evidence having the greater weight, the more
convincing force in your mind.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Cross v.
Huttenlocher, 185 Conn. 390, 394, 440 A.2d 952 (1981).

%oThe crrcumstanoes which have been consrdered signifi cant in an action to
disregard the corporate entity have rarely been articulated with any clarity.
Perhaps this is true because the circumstances necessanly vary accordlng fo the
facts of the particular case. Therefore, each case in which the issue is raised
should be regarded as sui generis, to be decided in accordance with its own
underlying facts. Since the issue is thus one of fact, its resolution is particularly
within the province of the trial court and such resolution will be regarded as
presumptively correct and will be left undisturbed on appeal unless it is clearly
erroneous. (Footnotes omitted.) 1 Fletcher, Cyc. Corp..(Perm. Ed. 1981 Sup.)
41.3, p. 38." Angelo Tomasso, Inc. v. Armor Construction & Paving, Inc., supra,

187 Conn, 556 n.7.

4 General Statutes § 52-380a provrdes in relevant part “( )A judgment lien,
securing the unpaid amotint of any money judgment, including interest and costs,
may be placed on any real property by recording, in the town clerk's office in the

town where the real property lies, a judgment lien certificate .
“(b) From the time of the recording of the judgment Iaen oertnr cate, the

money judgment shall be a Ilen on the Judgment debtor's mterest in the real
property described. .

“(c} A Judgment hen on real property may be foreclosed or redeemed in
the same manner as mortgages on the same property

5 As to abandonment, the defendants allege the following. “1.The plaintiffs are
seeking to enforce a 2001 Judgment against the defendants based solely on
corporate veil-piercing theories. 2. The plaintiffs have been aware of the facts
and circumstanceés that they rely on to support their veil-piercing claims in this
action for many years. 3. The plaintiffs’ delay in bringing this action against the -
defendants was unreasonable. 4. The plaintiffs’ unreasonable delay in asserting
their rights in this action amounts to a voluntary and intentional relinquishment of
those rights. -5. The plaintiffs have lost their right to assert claims against the
defendants, and are therefore barred from asserting the same, based on the
doctrine of abandonment.” Amended Answer, dated February 12,2008.
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® As to failure to mitigate damages, the defendants claim the following. “1. The
plaintiffs in this action were the plaintiffs in" an action entitled Arthur J. Rocqiie,
Jr., Commissioner of Environmental Protection, et al v. Joseph J. Farricielli,-et al,
HHD CV 99-0591020 8. 2. On September 21, 2001, the Court (Hale, J.) entered
judgment (the “2001 Judgment”) in favor of the Roeque plaintiffs against Mr.
Farricielli and the other defendants (the “Rocque defendants”). 3. The 2001
Judgment required the Rocque defendants to perform environmental remediation
to close certain parcels of land referred fo as the "Tire Pond," including -
~ stabilization of an embankment along the Quinnipiac River. The 2001 Judgment
also required the Rocque defendants to post a $1,000,000 bond to cover the -
remediation work. The 2001 Judgment further imposed a civil penalty in favor of
the plaintiff Commissioner in the amount of $2,336,880 and a civil penalty in
favor of the plaintiff Town of Hamden in the amount of $1,416,910 against the
Rocque defendants. 4. Prior to September 20, 2007, the Rocque defendants
had not performed, in whole or in part, the terms of the 2001 Judgment requiring
said defendants to post the bond, stabilize the embankment, remediate the Tire
Pond, or pay the civil penalties. 5. On September 20, 2007, the Commissioner of
Environmental Protection issued an Authorization to Waterfront Enterprises, Inc.,
d/b/a Gateway Terminal (“Gateway”) to close the Tire Pond in accordance with
the Tire Pond Closure Plan, which plan would fulfill the obligations of the Rocque
defendants in closing the Tire Pond and stabilizing the embankment. 6. On or
about September 20, 2007, the Rocque defendants negotiated an agreement
with Gateway pursuant to which Gateway would perform the obligation of the
Rocque defendants for the closure of the Tire Pond and the stabilization of the
embankment. Pursuant to said agreement, Gateway agreed to pay $4 for every
ton of materials that Gateway delivered to the Tire Pond and fill the same and to
spread on the surrounding land. 7. The plaintiff Commissioner of the Department
of Environmental Protection and the plaintiff Town of Hamden in the instant
action agreed to allow the Rocque defendants to utilize Gateway as aforesaid
and the plaintiffs estabiished with the Superior Court of the State of Connecticut
at the Hartford Judicial District an account to allow the Court o accept funds paid
by Gateway to be used to fund the obligation of the Rocque defendants under
the 2001 Judgment. The plaintiffs herein further agreed that the Rocque
defendants would have no liability for the materials managed or placed at the
Tire Pond pursuant to the Commissioner's authorization to allow Gateway to fulfill
the obligations of the Rocque defendants under the 2001 Judgment. 8. On or
- about October 3, 2007, the plaintiffs herein, the Rocque defendants and the
defendant State. Fwe industrial Park, Inc. among others, entered into an
agreement, which was issued as an Order in the 2001 Judgment entitled First
Supplementary Post-Judgment Order on Consent, which was adopted by the
Court {Sheldon, J.) as a modification of the 2001 Judgment. A copy of said
Order is attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein. Said Order
authorized Gateway to perform the activities referenced therein and stated
above. 9. Gateway has been performing its obligations and delivering materials
to the Tire Pond for many months. Gateway has further tendered $600,000 to
the Commissioner of Environmental Protection pursuant to the filling effort, which
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sums have been deposited into the Court. Additionally, Gateway has paid
$400,000 to the Depariment of Environmental Protection against the $1,000,000
bond that is the obligation of the Rocque defendants. 10. On or about February
8, 2008, the plaintiff Commissioner advised Gateway that Gateway will no longer

- be authorized to supply any further fili materials to the Tiré Pond after Gateway
completes the initial 400,000 ton delivery that is currently in process. The
Commissioner advised Gateway of this fact despite the fact that the '
Commissioner has already tested and approved as much'as 800,000 tons of
material, and possibly 1,000,000 tons of material proposed by Gateway to deliver
to the Tire Pond as authorized and approved by the Commissioner under the
Closure Plan. 11. As a result of the actions of the Commissioner terminating
Gateway’s authority to deliver up to 1,000,000 tons of material to the Tire Pond in
accordance with the approved Closure Plan, the Commissioner has prevented
the Rocque defendants from receiving the full benefit of $4,000,000, which sums

“were to be used to fully fulfill the $1,000,000 bond obligations and the vast
majority of the civil penalty imposed upon the Rocque defendants, which the
plaintiffs herein seek to impose upon the instant defendants under theories of
vicarious liability. 12. As a result of the aforesaid, the plaintiffs have failed to
mitigate damages.” Amended Answer, dated February 12, 2008.

7 As to estoppel, the defendants allege the following.. “1-11 Paragraphs 1
through 11 of the Second Special Defense are hereby incorporated as
Paragraphs 1 through 11 of this, the Third Special Defense, as if fully set forth
-herein. 12, As a result of the aforesaid, the plaintiffs should be estopped from
imposing the full liability against the defendants, as the plaintiffs have prevented
the Rocque defendants from substantially satisfying the 2001 Judgment, yet the
plaintiffs now seek to impose the entirety of said Judgment that is remaining
against the defendants herein.” Amended Answer, dated February 12, 2008.

8 Asto unclean hands, the defendants claim the following: “1-11 Paragraphs 1
through 11 of the Second Special Defense are hereby incorporated as

Paragraphs 1 through 11 of this, the Fourth Special Defense, as if fully set forth
herein. 12. As a result of the aforesaid, the plaintiffs are barred from recovery for
lack of clean hands.” Amended Answer, dated February 12, 2008. '
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